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Forward-looking statements 
 
This document may contain certain forward-looking statements. Such statements are only predictions, based on certain 
assumptions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s 
control. Actual events or results may differ materially from the events or results expected or implied in any forward-looking 
statement. 
 
The inclusion of such statements should not be regarded as a representation, warranty or prediction with respect to the 
accuracy of the underlying assumptions or that any forward-looking statements will be or are likely to be fulfilled. Bowen 
Coking Coal Ltd undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the 
date of this document (subject to securities exchange disclosure requirements). 
 
The information in this document does not take into account the objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any person 
or organisation. Nothing contained in this document constitutes investment, legal, tax or other advice. 
 
Competent Person Statement 
 
All exploration results and Mineral Resources referred to in this Financial Report have previously been announced to the 
market by the Company in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of the ASX Listing Rules and the JORC Code 2012, 
including as to the requirements for a statement from a Competent Person; and the relevant announcements have been 
referred to in the body of the Financial Report. The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that 
materially affects that information. In respect of the Mineral Resources, all material assumptions and technical parameters 
continue to apply and have not materially changed. 
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The Directors of Bowen Coking Coal Limited (the Company) present their report together with the financial statements of 
the Consolidated Entity (the Group), being the Company and the entities it controlled, for the period ended 30 June 2023. 

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Bowen Coking Coal Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Nicholas Jorss 
Gerhard Redelinghuys 

Matthew Latimore 
Neville Sneddon 
David Conry 
Stephen Downs 

Executive Chairman  
Executive Director (moved from Managing Director to Executive Director on 27 
March 2023 and resigned on 23 August 2023)
Non-Executive Director (resigned on 25 July 2023) 
Non-Executive Director 
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 23 June 2023) 
Alternative Director for Matthew Latimore (appointed on 4 November 2022 and 
resigned on 25 July 2023) 

Information on Directors and executives 

The board has a strong combination of technical, managerial and capital markets experience. Expertise and experience 
include coal exploration and operations. The names and qualifications of the current directors are summarised as follows: 

Nicholas Jorss – Executive Chairman 

Qualifications: BE (Hons) Civil, MBA, GDip App Fin (Sec Inst) 
Appointment Date: 12 December 2018 
Length of Service: 4.5 years 
Current ASX Listed Directorships: Ballymore Resources Limited 
Former ASX Listed Directorships: Nil 

Nicholas Jorss was the founding Managing Director of Stanmore Resources Ltd (via St Lucia). Nicholas Jorss served on 
Stanmore’s Board from its formation in June 2008 through to 26 November 2016. He has over 25 years’ experience in 
investment banking, civil engineering, corporate finance and project management. Nicholas Jorss was instrumental in the 
success of Stanmore Resources Ltd, which currently has a market value of around $1.8 billion. As the Founding Managing 
Director, Nicholas Jorss led Stanmore’s growth from a coal exploration company to a profitable, mid-tier producer. In his prior 
roles in investment banking (as a director of Pacific Road Corporate Finance) he has been involved in leading advisory 
mandates with corporate, government and private equity clients across industry sectors ranging from resources to 
infrastructure.  

Prior to this Nicholas Jorss was an engineer with Baulderstone Hornibrook where he delivered significant infrastructure and 
resource projects over a period of approximately 8 years. Nicholas Jorss is a founding shareholder and Director of St Lucia 
Resources, Konstantin Resources, Ballymore Resources and Wingate Capital. He was previously a Director of Kurilpa 
Uranium, Vantage Private Equity Growth, Vantage Asset Management and WICET Holdings Pty Ltd. Nicholas Jorss holds 
a Bachelor with Honours in Civil Engineering from the University of Queensland, a Master of Business Administration from 
the University of NSW (AGSM) and a Graduate Diploma of Applied Finance and Investment. 

Gerhard Redelinghuys – Executive Director 

Qualifications:  B. Comm. Acc, Hons, B. Compt, GAICD
Appointment Date: 29 September 2017
Resignation Date: 23 August 2023
Length of Service: 5.9 years
Current ASX Listed Directorships: Nil
Former ASX Listed Directorships: Nil

Gerhard Redelinghuys is the Managing Director of Cape Coal and founder of Bowen Coking Coal Ltd, and has 27 years’ 
experience in financial and project development within the mining sector. After studying finance at the University of Pretoria 
in South Africa, he joined PricewaterhouseCoopers, before commencing his employment with EXXARO Resources Ltd 
(former ISCOR and KUMBA Resources) in 1995.  

Since 1995 he has held various senior management positions in the corporate office, as well as both open cut and 
underground mining operations in South Africa. He has held directorships in Australia, including the position of Managing 
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Director of Exxaro Australia. In addition to his business analysis experience, Gerhard Redelinghuys has extensive experience 
in mining project acquisitions and deal making on an international level. He was also the owner’s representative on a multi-
billion dollar underground coal project in Queensland until 2015 before founding Bowen Coking Coal Ltd. Gerhard 
Redelinghuys is also a graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Matthew Latimore - Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications: Executive Education Program, M.Bus. (Executive), Adv. Dip. 
of Leadership and Management, B.I.B 

Appointment Date: 17 June 2020 
Resignation Date: 25 July 2023 
Length of Service:  3 years 
Current ASX Listed Directorships: Stanmore Resources Limited, Magnum Mining and 

Exploration Ltd 
Former ASX Listed Directorships: Nil 

Matthew Latimore is the President and Founder of M Resources Pty Ltd, an entity which specialises in marketing coking 
coal, including hard coking coal, semi hard coking coal, semi soft coking coal and PCI coals for steel manufacturing. Matthew 
Latimore held the position of General Manager Sales and Marketing for Wesfarmers Curragh mine and was responsible for 
global sales of Curragh metallurgical coal products to international steel mills and thermal coal to domestic and international 
power utilities, as well as rail, port, coal quality and finance functions. Matthew Latimore was a Director of Curragh Coal 
Sales. Prior to joining Wesfarmers in early 2001, Matthew Latimore held various positions with Mitsui & Co (Australia) Pty 
Ltd. 

Neville Sneddon - Independent Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications: B. Eng (Mining)(Hons), M. Eng, MAusIMM, Grad AICD
Appointment Date:  12 December 2018
Length of Service: 4.7 years
Current ASX Listed Directorships: Nil
Former ASX Listed Directorships: Nil

A mining engineer with over 40 years’ experience in most facets of the Queensland (QLD) and New South Wales (NSW) 
resource sectors, and as the recently retired Chairman of Stanmore Resources Ltd, Neville Sneddon brings substantial Board 
and industry knowledge to the Company. He has developed and operated both underground and open cut mines working 
for Coal & Allied in the Hunter Valley and from 1997 worked in a senior role in the NSW Mines Inspectorate, covering 
operations in all forms of mining in the state.  

Moving to Queensland in 1999, Neville Sneddon accepted the position of Chief Operating Officer with Shell Coal which was 
acquired by Anglo American’s Australian coal operations the following year. Leaving as CEO in 2007, he held several Board 
positions with mining and infrastructure companies including Chairman of the operating company at Dalrymple Bay Coal 
Terminal near Mackay and Director of Port Waratah Coal Services, a major coal export facility at Newcastle. Neville Sneddon 
has also been a member of the Boards of the QLD, NSW and National Mining Councils. His expertise has been sought by 
several government committees such as the NSW Mine Subsidence Board, NSW Mines Rescue Board, QLD Ministerial Coal 
Mine Safety Advisory Committee and the joint federal/state advisory committee. 

Neville Sneddon has joined the Company’s newly formed Audit & Risk Management and Nomination & Remuneration 
Committees, and will chair the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 

David Conry - Independent Non-executive Director 

Qualifications: AICD, Harvard Business School 
Appointment Date: 23 June 2023 
Length of Service: 0.2 years 
Current ASX Listed Directorships: Nil 
Former ASX Listed Directorships: Australian Pacific Coal Limited 

David Conry AM is an experienced company director and senior executive, who has held several board roles in the private 
and public sectors and for all three levels of government. David Conry has experience in the mining industry, strategy and 
communication, corporate administration, finance and compliance as well as private and executive interests in investment 
and advisory services.  
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Most recently, David Conry was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Australian Pacific Coal Limited where he oversaw 
the successful application to extend the mining lease of the company’s primary underground asset at Dartbrook in the Hunter 
Valley. Prior to his retirement from this role the company announced a joint venture that would see the mine work toward 
recommencing operations from care and maintenance. This, together with complete debt repayment including a $100.0 
million recapitalization added significantly to the company’s value over the period of his tenure.  

David Conry has joined the Company’s newly formed Audit & Risk Management and Nomination & Remuneration 
Committees, and will chair the Audit & Risk Management Committee. 

Stephen Downs - Alternative Director for Matthew Latimore 

Qualifications: B. Eng (Electrical), MBA
Appointment Date: 4 November 2022
Resignation Date: 25 July 2023
Length of Service:  0.9 years
Current ASX Listed Directorships: Nil
Former ASX Listed Directorships: Nil

Stephen Downs is a project management professional with extensive experience delivering mining and large infrastructure 
projects. In the past 20 years, he has delivered over $1.0 billion in capital projects, regulatory approvals for mining leases 
and due-diligence reviews on mining assets. Stephen Downs has previously served as Chief Operating Officer M Mining, 
which is the operator of Millennium Mine. 

Chief Executive Officer - Mark Ruston 

Appointment Date: 27 March 2023 
Length of Service:  0.4 year 

Mark Ruston is a mining executive with over 30 years of experience in coal and metalliferous open pit and underground 
operations, across Australasia and Africa, both for mining contractors and principals.  

Mark Ruston is a highly accomplished executive having recently held General Manager roles for Thiess, Golding Contractors, 
Baralaba Coal Company and Macmahon Holdings. He has a demonstrated track record of maximising all areas of operational 
performance, contractor management and new project integration.  

He holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Civil) (Monash University), a Graduate Diploma of Mining (University of Ballarat) and a 
MBA from Latrobe University (Dean’s Award – Academic Performance). Mark has also served as an alternate director on 
the Queensland Resources Council and served on the Monash University Resources Engineering Board. 

Chief Financial Officer - Daryl Edwards 

Appointment Date: 2 February 2021 
Length of Service: 2.5 years 

Daryl Edwards is a Chartered Accountant with over 25 years’ experience in the mining and manufacturing industries. He has 
held various executive positions including CEO of a private Australian coal explorer, Pioneer Coal, and CFO and Head of 
Corporate Development for Universal Coal plc (ASX:UNV) for over 7 years, where he managed the commercialisation of the 
4.0 million tonnes per annum (Mtpa) Kangala Colliery and the 3.3Mtpa New Clydesdale Colliery. Previously, Daryl Edwards 
was CFO at Asenjo Energy, a Botswana-based coal exploration and development company, held privately by Aquila 
Resources, Sentula Mining and Jonah Capital. 
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Company Secretary - Duncan Cornish 

Appointment Date: 1 May 2019 
Length of Service:  4.3 years 

Duncan Cornish was the founding CFO and Company Secretary for Stanmore Resources Ltd (ASX:SMR), Waratah Coal Ltd 
(TSX and ASX:WCI) and Cokal Ltd (ASX:CKA) and is a Chartered Accountant with significant experience as a public 
company CFO and Company Secretary, focused on finance, administration and governance roles. He has more than 20 
years’ experience in the accountancy profession both in England and Australia, mainly with the accountancy firms Ernst & 
Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers. He has extensive experience in all aspects of company financial reporting, corporate 
regulatory and governance areas, business acquisition and disposal due diligence, capital raising, company initial public 
offerings and company secretarial responsibilities, and has served as CFO and/or Company Secretary of several Australian 
and Canadian public companies. 

Interest in Securities 

As at the date of this report, the interests of each (current) director in shares and options issued by the Company are shown 
in the table below: 

Directors Shares Options 

Nicholas Jorss 53,143,574 10,000,000 
Neville Sneddon 7,807,307 3,000,000 
David Conry - - 

Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the year ended 30 June 2023, and 
the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Full Board 
Held Attended 

Nicholas Jorss 11 11 
Gerhard Redelinghuys 11 10 
Matthew Latimore 11 2 
Neville Sneddon 11 11 
David Conry - - 
Stephen Downs 7 7 

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office. 

It is noted that the Directors were able to attend to business of the Company during the year by circulated resolution and 
telephone meetings as permitted by the Company’s Constitution in place of conducting meetings.  

During the year the Company did not have an audit committee or nomination and remuneration committee. The Board was 
of the opinion that due to the nature and size of the Company, the functions performed by an audit committee and nomination 
and remuneration committee can be adequately handled by the full Board. With effect from 1 July 2023 the Board has formed 
an Audit and Risk Management Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Principal activities 
During the period, the principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of the exploration, development and production 
activities at the consolidated entity’s mining tenements situated in Queensland, Australia, with a primary focus on 
metallurgical coal. 

Corporate 
Bowen Coking Coal Ltd ACN 064 874 620 was incorporated as an Australian public company limited by shares on 6 July 
1994, listing on the Australian Stock Exchange shortly thereafter. The name of the Company was officially changed to Bowen 
Coking Coal Ltd in 2017. 
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Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

Review of Operations 
During the year ended 30 June 2023, Bowen Coking Coal Ltd continued its growth strategy with two mines in operation, a 
third in development as well as completion of a number of project milestones associated with the restart of the Burton 
Complex, following acquisition of a 90% interest in the Lenton Joint Venture on 1 July 2022. 

Group Consolidated 2H 1H Change Total 
Managed Production 2023 2023* % FY2023 

ROM Coal Produced Kt 1,064.9 593.8 79.3% 1,658.7 
ROM Strip Ratio Prime 10.8 16.6 34.9% 12.8 
Saleable Coal Produced Kt 717.0 258.2 177.7% 975.2 
Sales of Produced Coal Kt 679.7 81.8 730.9% 761.5 
Sales of Third Party Purchased Coal Kt 35.2 - 100.0% 35.2 
Total Coal Sales Kt 714.9 81.8 774.0% 796.7 
Saleable Coal Stocks at period end Kt 231.5 182.4 26.9% 231.5 

* 1H 2023 production metrics have been updated for minor changes to align with final full year results.

FY2023 was a transformational year for the Group moving into production from exploration and development with 1.7 million 
tonnes (Mt) of Run-of-Mine (ROM) coal produced and 0.8 Mt of sales from two operational mines, compared with the prior 
year which saw a small volume of coal produced and sold from the Bluff mine. 

It was a year of two halves, with production and sales performance in 2H 2023 (the last 6 months for the year ended 30 June 
2023) significantly up, compared to 1H 2023 (the first 6 months for the year ended 30 June 2023). The 1H 2023 was focused 
on pit establishment works, bringing operations to steady state mining and significant investment in recommissioning the 
Lenton Joint Venture infrastructure for the Group’s next stage of growth.  

The Group’s Operational highlights for the year ended 30 June 2023 are described below: 

● Broadmeadow East pit achieved planned production rates, after first coal mined in July 2022.
● Commencement of Ellensfield South box cut, the next source of high quality coking coal for the Group.
● Successful recommissioning of Lenton Joint Venture infrastructure including module 1 of Coal Handling and Preparation 

Plant (CHPP), Mallawa train loadout and camp facilities (90% interest acquired in Lenton Joint Venture on 1 July 2022).
● Isaac River Project has been granted approval under the Commonwealth Government Protection and Biodiversity

Conservation Act 1999 (EPBC).
● Sumitomo Corporation committed to contribute $2.5 million in the next financial year towards the next stage of

exploration (Phase 2B) at Hillalong Coking Coal Project (Hillalong).

PROJECTS 

Burton Complex (ML 700053, ML 70337, ML 700054, ML 70109, ML 70260, EPC 766, EPC 1675, EPC 865, EPC 857, 
MDL 349, MDL 315) 

On 1 July 2022 the Group acquired a 90% interest in the Lenton Joint Venture, which owns the Burton complex, and the 
mine’s official reopening was held on 4 May 2023. The immediate focus of the project was to invest in the recommissioning 
of module 1 of the CHPP as well as the Mallawa train loadout and camp facilities. The current throughput capacity of the 
refurbishment work completed to date on module 1 is 2.75Mt per annum based on current performance. Work commenced 
on module 2 of the CHPP later in the year, however, this has been paused as the existing capacity from module 1 has proven 
to meet the coal production needs in the near-term. Completion of refurbishment work on module 2 will be assessed on a 
production needs basis during the following financial year, which if completed, would increase throughput capacity of the 
washplant to 5.5Mt per annum. 
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Broadmeadow East Coking Coal Project (ML 70257)  
  
Broadmeadow East Mine  2H 1H Change Total 
Managed Production  2023 2023* % FY2023 
      
ROM Coal Produced Kt 781.0 396.2 97.1%  1,177.2 
ROM Strip Ratio Prime 8.4 11.5 26.6% 9.4 
Saleable Coal Produced Kt 477.1 170.8 179.4%  647.9 
Sales of Produced Coal Kt 437.3 41.5 952.9%  478.8 
Sales of Third Party Purchased Coal Kt 29.2 - 100.0%  29.2 
Total Coal Sales Kt 466.4 41.5 1,023.1%  508.0 
Saleable Coal Stocks at period end Kt 170.9 123.6 38.3%  170.9 
  
* 1H 2023 production metrics have been updated for minor changes to align with final full year results.  
  
Coal production commenced at Broadmeadow East in July 2022 and has quickly reached its planned steady-state production 
rate of up to 1.1Mtpa ROM. This production rate increased to an annualised rate of more than 1.5Mtpa on a short-term basis 
in the June 2023 quarter to feed the newly refurbished module 1 at the Burton CHPP.  
  
Coal was initially processed through nearby Carborough Downs CHPP under a coal washing and infrastructure sharing 
arrangement with Fitzroy Australia during 1H 2023 and is now processed through the Burton CHPP, following its successful 
commissioning of Module 1 in April 2023. The mine’s coal is railed from the nearby Burton Mallawa train loadout to Dalrymple 
Bay Coal Terminal in Hay Point. 
  
BUMA Australia Pty Ltd (BUMA) is the mining contractor for Broadmeadow East. Coal sales were completed through the 
company’s 50:50 Marketing Joint Venture with M Resources Trading Pty Ltd.  
  
Ellensfield South Pit (ML 70109) 
  
Ellensfield South is the Group’s third open-cut mining area and is within the greater Burton Complex, located immediately 
south of the Burton CHPP. The box cut is still under development and expected to begin producing a higher yielding coking 
coal late in 1H 2024. 
  
BUMA, the mining services contractor, has mobilised two truck and excavator fleets to Ellensfield South and a third fleet 
(including labour) has been relocated from Broadmeadow East, collectively targeting steady-state ROM coal production in 
the order of 240Kt per month across the Burton complex, from the second half of FY2024. 
  
Bluff PCI Mine (ML 80194, EPC 1175, EPC 1999) 
  
Bluff Mine  2H 1H Change Total 
Managed Production  2023 2023* % FY2023 
      
ROM Coal Produced Kt 283.9 197.6 43.7%  481.5 
ROM Strip Ratio Prime 17.2 26.7 35.6% 21.1 
Saleable Coal Produced Kt 239.9 87.4 174.5%  327.3 
Sales of Produced Coal Kt 242.4 40.3 501.5%  282.7 
Sales of Third Party Purchased Coal Kt 6.0 - 100.0%  6.0 
Total Coal Sales Kt 248.5 40.3 51.6%  288.8 
Saleable Coal Stocks at period end Kt 60.7 58.8 3.2%  60.7 
  
* 1H 2023 production metrics have been updated for minor changes to align with final full year results.  
  
Bluff mine is a contract mining operation with HSE Mining appointed as contractor. The coal is processed through the nearby 
Cook CHPP under an agreement with the QCoal Group. Demand for Bluff’s ULVPCI coal remains strong for its low ash, high 
energy and high coke replacement ratio.  
 
Production at Bluff was impacted by extraordinary wet weather in the last part of 2022 and early in 2023. Additional 
operational challenges have impacted Bluff’s ability to achieve its targeted steady-state mining rate, despite considerable 
efforts and improved production performance in 2H 2023. During the period the Bluff mine plan was revised to reduce strip 
ratios and costly multi-seam mining operations and a strategic review of the asset commenced with a view to maximising 
shareholder value. 
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The marketing of the Bluff product coal continues through the Company’s 50:50 Marketing Joint Venture with M Resources 
Trading Pty Ltd, a specialist metallurgical coal trading company. 
 
Hillalong Coking Coal Project (EPC 1824 & EPC 2141)  
 
Hillalong is owned 85% by Bowen and 15% by Japanese conglomerate, Sumitomo who, in June 2023, elected to earn an 
additional 5% of the Hillalong project by spending another $2.5 million on Phase 2B exploration, taking their total project 
holding up to 20%. 
  
The Phase 2B Work Program includes additional exploration drilling, firming up the resource and advancing the project 
towards feasibility studies and environmental approvals. Mining studies continue to guide decisions on preferred mining 
domains and early constraint studies are underway. 
  
Hillalong is planned to operate as a satellite pit within the Burton complex, which would see its production processed through 
that infrastructure. 
 
Isaac River Coking Coal Project (MDL 444, EPC 830, MLA 7000062) 
  
Isaac River was granted a site-specific Environmental Authority from the Queensland government and holds an approved 
Progressive Rehabilitation and Closure Plan. At the end of May 2023, the Project was formally granted approval under the 
EPBC. The EPBC approval requires Bowen Coking Coal to offset potential impacts to ornamental snake habitats and to 
monitor surface and groundwater.  
  
The Isaac River project, once operational, will produce high quality, high yielding metallurgical coal of up to 0.5 million tonnes 
per year for approximately 5 years. Bowen Coking Coal is finalising the Mining Lease approval process with landholders and 
the Queensland Government. Construction is anticipated to commence during 2024 and the Project is expected to create 
200 jobs in steady-state mining. 
  
Similar to Bluff mine, the project aims to use third party processing and infrastructure facilities to fast track the development 
of the mine once all approvals have been obtained. 
 
Corporate 
  
Equity raising 
 
In October 2022, the Company announced an $85.0 million (before transaction costs) two-tranche equity placement to 
sophisticated and institutional investors. The total placement of 283,333,334 Ordinary fully paid shares were issued at $0.30 
per share in October and November 2022. The funds raised were for project development, general working capital as well 
as infrastructure guarantees and prepayments. 
 
In June 2023, the Company announced a $40.0 million (before transaction costs) equity placement and fully underwritten 
share purchase plan (SPP) capped at A$10.0 million, issued at $0.17 per share. By 30 June 2023, the Company had issued 
268,628,628 shares for $45.6 million. Post period end, the Company issued a further 25,489,047 shares for $4.3 million 
(including director participation of $2.2 million which was subject to shareholder approval received at a general meeting of 
the Company on 18 July 2023). The funds raised were to continue the Group’s growth trajectory including expenditure for 
Burton on the Ellensfield South box cut development as well as for site infrastructure and haul road upgrades, along with 
working capital. 
  
10% sale of Broadmeadow East project to Formosa 
 
On 11 July 2023, the Company announced the sale by Coking Coal One Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of Bowen Coking 
Coal Limited) of a 10% interest in the Broadmeadow East Mine to MPC Lenton Pty Ltd (MPC), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Formosa Plastics Group. The proposed structure of the transaction will result in the Broadmeadow East (BME) project 
being transferred into the Burton-Lenton Joint Venture (BLJV) in a cash and royalties transaction. MPC already owns a 10% 
interest in the Lenton Joint Venture which owns the Burton complex infrastructure and Burton and New Lenton tenements.   
  
The incorporation of BME into the BLJV simplifies coal blending options to target specific markets and facilitates a reduction 
in operational complexity associated with coal processing from the Burton and BME assets, by streamlining the ownership 
structure.  
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Consideration to be paid by MPC to BCC for the 10% interest in the BME project is: 
  
● $13.0 million cash on completion of the sale, plus 
● An ‘acquisition’ royalty of $2.10 per ROM tonne of MPC’s 10% share of production from the BME mine on a quarterly 

basis from the date of economical disposal to 31 December 2026, subject to certain coal price indexes being triggered. 
  
If underground mining is conducted in future at BME, MPC shall pay an underground royalty on a quarterly basis of $5.00 
per ROM tonne of MPC’s participating interest share of underground production, providing MPC’s share of revenue after all 
costs is at least $5.00 per ROM tonne in that quarter. 
  
The transaction also resulted in MPC paying $20.0 million as a pre-payment of its future contributions to the BLJV, which 
has been received subsequent to reporting date. 
  
Completion of the sale are subject to the usual conditions, including FIRB approval and indicative State Minister for 
Resources approval. 
 
Corporate Funding Facility 
 
Taurus Funding Facility 
 
During the period, the Company fully drew down its US$55.0 million facility with Taurus Mining Finance Fund No.2, L.P 
(“Taurus”), and repaid US$11.0 million in December 2022.  
 
On 30 March 2023, the Company and Taurus agreed to an amendment to the facility which deferred the March 2023 and 
June 2023 quarterly repayments of US$11.0 million each to 31 December 2023 and 31 March 2024, respectively. In addition 
to the repayment deferments, a further liquidity facility of US$7.0 million at a 10% per annum interest rate was provided, 
which the Group drew down on in June 2023, bringing the total drawn balance on the Taurus facility to US$51.0 million (A$ 
77.1 million) at period end. As part of the facility amendment, the royalty payable to Taurus increased from 0.25% to 0.35% 
on sales of coal from the Burton complex.  
 
New Hope Performance Facility 
 
The Group has a two-year bilateral facility agreement with New Hope Corporation Limited (NHC) with an aggregate limit of 
$70.0 million. On 1 July 2022, $61.6 million was drawn to provide a $61.6 million bank guarantee to the Queensland 
Government for the Burton/Lenton Mine rehabilitation costs as part of completion of the acquisition of Burton/Lenton on the 
same date.  
 
On 23 June 2023, a replacement guarantee was issued by NHC for and on behalf of New Lenton Coal Pty Ltd (a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Bowen Coking Coal Limited), which effectively reduced the performance bonding facility by $13.7 million. 
The replacement guarantee resulted from a reduction to the Estimated Rehabilitation Cost (ERC) for Burton, following a 
review of the volumes of actual disturbance and updated cost estimations. 
 
At period end, the performance bonding facility had a balance of $55.6 million ($47.9 million principal and $7.7 million of 
capitalised interest).  
  

Review of Financial Results 
The Group's financial highlights for the year ended 30 June 2023 are described below: 
  
● Revenues and other income of $209.9 million (2022: $11.9 million); 
● Operating loss before income tax and net finance expenses of $152.8 million (2022: $17.6 million); 
● Loss after income tax expense of $162.9 million (2022: $18.3 million); 
● Cash used in operating activities of $105.1 million (2022: $19.0 million) and 
● Closing cash on hand of $48.9 million (2022: $72.5 million). 
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Financial performance: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Revenue 
Revenue from contracts with customers 204,475,121 11,862,313 
Other income 5,464,592 -  

209,939,713 11,862,313 

Expense 
Other expense (95,312,445) (11,464,855) 
Net inventory movements 54,175,963 5,999,733 
Operating expenses (286,044,873) (24,000,041) 
Impairment and onerous contracts expense (35,551,657) -  

Operating loss before income tax and net finance expenses (152,793,299) (17,602,850) 

Finance income 13,914,595 5,506 
Finance expense (25,050,903) (716,260) 
Share of profit from joint ventures 992,498 11,190 

Loss before income tax expense (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 

Income tax expense -  -  

Loss after income tax for the year (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 

The Group’s operating loss for the year ended 30 June 2023 totalled $152.8 million, largely due to high operating expenses 
incurred in the current year which was driven by the Group’s transition from explorer and developer to becoming a mining 
producer, increased operational expenditure associated with ramp up of mining activities at Bluff and Broadmeadow East 
mines, combined with start up operating expenditure incurred for the Burton Complex (owned by the Lenton Joint Venture). 
The Group’s higher production costs were also adversely driven by market and industry inflationary pressures through rising 
input prices for labour, parts and materials, including diesel fuel and explosives.  

Other drivers contributing to the Loss after income tax for the year were: 

● $12.9 million for depreciation and amortisation driven by increased Property, Plant and Equipment investment, due to 
assets brought into service during the year ended 30 June 2023;

● $38.0 million relating to administrative, overhead and corporate costs that support the expanding multi-mine operations;
● $11.1 million net finance charges, relating to the Group’s fully drawn debt facilities and convertible note; and
● $35.6 million non-cash related expense ($19.1 million impairment and $16.5 million onerous contracts expense) relating 

to the Bluff mine, following the review of the recoverable value of the Bluff mine (see note 8 to the accompanying 
audited Consolidated Financial Statements).

In the prior year, the Group had just commenced operations at the Bluff mine and was working on the planning and 
development for its new projects Broadmeadow East and Burton Complex, while also continuing to engage in exploration 
activities. During the financial year ended 30 June 2022, one sale of ultra low vol PCI coal from Bluff mine was recorded. 
Due to the substantial difference in the Group’s operational landscape between the two years, the financial performance for 
the year ended 30 June 2023 is not comparative with prior year. 

The Group’s performance has been analysed for each half for the year the 30 June 2023, to show the step changes driving 
the financial results. 
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2H 1H Change Total 
Group Operating Loss - 2H 2023 vs 1H 2023 comparison 2023 2023 % FY 2023 

Revenue from contracts with customers 177,234,937 27,240,184 550.6% 204,475,121 
Other income 5,381,248 83,344 6356.7% 5,464,592 

182,616,185 27,323,528 568.3% 209,939,713 

(167,201,926) (118,842,947) 40.7% (286,044,873) 
(12,898,145) 67,074,108 (119.2%) 54,175,963 
(66,188,752) (29,123,693) 127.3% (95,312,445) 

Operating expense 
Net inventory movements
Other expenses 
Impairment and onerous contract expense (35,551,657) - 100.0%  (35,551,657)

Operating Loss (99,224,295) (53,569,004) 85.2% (152,793,299) 
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The table above highlights the Group’s strong revenue from contracts with customers during 2H 2023 (550.6% increase from 
1H 2023), driven by the step up in production performance resulting in 680Kt of coal sales in 2H 2023, compared to 82Kt in 
1H 2023 (730.9% increase from 1H 2023). The revenue increase was partly offset by 21.7% decrease in the Group’s average 
realised coal price per tonne sold, mainly driven by the decrease in thermal coal prices. Broadmeadow East average realised 
coal price per tonne sold declined 36.6% in 2H 2023 compared to 1H 2023 (2H 2023: A$209.10, 1H 2023: A$329.99), while 
Bluff’s ultra low vol PCI average realised coal price per tonne sold improved slightly to A$353.91 in 2H 2023 from A$336.08/t 
in 1H 2023.  

Operating expenses comprising mining, processing and transport and logistics costs increased across all operations in 2H 
2023, driven by greater production volume as well as production input cost pressures. As presented in the charts, the Group’s 
operating expenses per saleable tonne produced decreased 49.9% in 2H 2023 from 1H 2023, reflective of the improved 
mining performance. The 2023 full year operating expenses per saleable tonne produced for the Group of $293.31 was 
impacted by the higher costing Bluff mine, which comprised one third of the Group’s total production. Due to the large closing 
inventory on hand at the end of the reporting period, operating expenses have been stated per saleable production tonne 
rather than per sales tonne basis. 

The net inventory movements reflect a significant stock build in 1H 2023, due to delayed shipments leading into the December 
2022 period impacted by weather and rail delays, as well as stockpiling coal from Broadmeadow East to prepare for first 
washing at the Burton CHPP once refurbishment works and commissioning were completed early in 2H 2023.  

Other expenses increased by 127.3% in 2H 2023, compared to 1H 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to higher 
Queensland government and acquisition royalties on the back of increased coal sales, along with additional depreciation and 
amortisation expense consistent with the investment in property, plant and equipment due to assets brought into service 
during the year ended 30 June 2023. 

The Group’s impairment and onerous contracts expense of $35.6 million is a non-cash related expense ($19.1 million 
impairment and $16.5 million onerous contracts expense) relating to the Bluff mine, following the review of the recoverable 
value of the Bluff mine (see note 8 to the accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements).  

2H 1H Change Total 
Consolidated Group 2023 2023 % FY2023 

Mining costs 132,120,195 106,406,062 24.2% 238,526,257 
Processing costs 12,597,333 8,507,780 48.1% 21,105,113 
Transport and logistics 21,768,041 4,645,462 368.6% 26,413,503 

Operating expenses 166,485,569 119,559,304 39.2% 286,044,873 

Saleable Tonnes Produced (Kt) 717.0 258.2 177.7% 975.2 

Operating expenses per Saleable Tonne (A$/t) 232.19 463.04 (49.9%) 293.31 

2H 1H Change Total 
Broadmeadow East Mine 2023 2023 % FY 2023 

Mining costs 78,791,143 51,543,406 52.9% 130,334,549 
Processing costs 2,285,588 1,577,257 44.9% 3,862,845 
Transport and logistics 13,868,738 1,615,557 758.4% 15,484,296 

Operating expenses 94,945,469 54,736,220 73.5% 149,681,689 

Saleable Tonnes Produced (Kt) 477.1 170.8 179.4% 647.9 

Operating expenses per Saleable Tonne (A$/t) 199.00 320.51 (37.9%) 231.03 

2H 1H Change Total 
Bluff Mine 2023 2023 % FY 2023 

Mining costs 53,329,052 54,862,656 (2.8%) 108,191,708 
Processing costs 10,311,745 6,930,523 48.8% 17,242,268 
Transport and logistics 7,899,302 3,029,905 160.7% 10,929,207 

Operating expenses 71,540,100 64,823,084 10.4% 136,363,184 

Saleable Tonnes Produced (Kt) 239.9 87.4 174.4% 327.3 

Operating expenses per Saleable Tonne (A$/t) 298.21 741.44 (59.8%) 416.59 
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Cash Flow: 

The Group's net cash outflows of $105.1 million from operating activities were largely impacted by negative working capital, 
with a significant inventory build due to vessel and coal timing delays, as well as $31.0 million in trade receivables associated 
with shipments during June 2023 received after year end. 

The Group's net cash outflows of $100.4 million from investing activities relates mainly to $22.5 million acquisition payment 
associated with the Lenton Joint Venture purchase, as well as $67.0 million in capital expenditure for the recommissioning 
of the Lenton Joint Venture infrastructure, of which $34.0 million was for module 1 of the CHPP, $12.0 million for buildings 
and infrastructure refurbishment, and start up development costs for Ellensfield South pit $9.4 million. 

The Group's net cash flows from financing activities of $181.6 million comprises $131.2 million in proceeds from issues of 
shares, as well as net $55.8 million in borrowings on the Taurus debt facility. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

Net cash at beginning of period 72,520,051 2,997,030 

Net cash used in operating activities (105,142,515) (19,012,290) 
Net cash used in investing activities (100,363,586) (32,628,646) 
Net cash from financing activities 181,643,585 121,163,957 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 287,133 -  
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (23,575,383) 69,523,021 

Net cash at end of period 48,944,668 72,520,051 

Financial Position: 

At 30 June 2023, the Group’s net assets totalled $35.0 million (2022: $70.2 million) which included cash assets of $48.9 
million (2022: $72.5 million). In addition to the cash on hand, the Group had $36.5 million in trade receivables and $60.5 
million in coal inventories. The Group’s net current liability position at year-end is driven mainly by the borrowing facilities 
with Taurus and New Hope Corporation becoming due and payable in the 12-month period to 30 June 2024. 

Capital Structure: 

As at 30 June 2023 the Company had 2,110,496,831 ordinary shares, 21,590,913 performance rights, 37,179,000 options 
and 40,000,000 Convertible Notes on issue.  

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the following securities were issued: 

● 984,560 Ordinary fully paid shares and 2,165,913 performance rights were issued on 5 July 2022 to Company
employees (pursuant to the Company's Employee Equity Incentive Plan);

● 8,875,000 Ordinary fully paid shares following the exercise of performance rights (during August 2022, September 2022, 
January 2023 and April 2023);

● 765,357 Performance rights were issued on 21 November 2022 to Company employees (pursuant to the Company's 
Employee Equity Incentive Plan), which were converted to ordinary fully paid shares following the exercise of 
performance rights in April and May 2023;

● 493,138,405 Ordinary fully paid shares following placements during October 2022 November 2022 and June 2023
(raising $120.7 million);

● 58,823,557 Ordinary fully paid shares following a share purchase plan during June 2023 (raising $10.0 million);
● 5,821,000 Shares issued following rights issue (raising $582,100);
● 15,000,000 Performance rights were issued on 27 February 2023 to Chief Executive Officer.

Treasury Policy 
The Group does not have a formally established treasury function. The Board is responsible for managing the Group’s finance 
facilities. During the period the Group had not undertaken any hedging of any kind and is not currently directly exposed to 
material currency risks other than exposure to the United States Dollar. The Group is reviewing its strategy to undertake 
hedging against foreign exchange currency risk.  
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Liquidity and funding 
Subject to the matters disclosed in note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, the Group anticipates that it has sufficient 
funds to continue operations, complete mine development activities and to conduct exploration activities, as necessary. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year. 

COVID-19 Impact 
Consistent across the mining industry, the primary impacts of COVID-19 were higher absenteeism and resulting labour 
shortages during the period. The Company continues to work with its employees and contractors on protocols to minimize 
the impact on operations and does not anticipate any negative impacts to the financial statements at the reporting period or 
subsequently, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.   

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

10% Sale of BME mine to Formosa 
On 11 July 2023, the Company announced the sale by Coking Coal One Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of Bowen Coking 
Coal Limited) of a 10% interest in the Broadmeadow East Mine to MPC Lenton Pty Ltd (MPC), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Formosa Plastics Group. The proposed structure of the transaction will result in the Broadmeadow East (BME) project 
being transferred into the Burton-Lenton Joint Venture (BLJV) in a cash and royalties transaction. MPC already owns a 10% 
interest in the Lenton Joint Venture which owns the Burton complex infrastructure and Burton and New Lenton tenements.   

The incorporation of BME into the BLJV simplifies increased coal blending options to target specific markets and facilitates 
a reduction in operational complexity associated with coal processing from the Burton and BME assets, by streamlining the 
ownership structure.  

Consideration to be paid by MPC to BCC for the 10% interest in the BME project is: 

● $13.0 million cash on completion of the sale, plus:
● An ‘acquisition’ royalty of $2.10 per ROM tonne of MPC’s 10% share of production from the BME mine on a quarterly

basis from the date of economical disposal to 31 December 2026, subject to certain coal price indexes being triggered

If underground mining is conducted in future at BME, MPC shall pay an underground royalty on a quarterly basis of $5.00 
per ROM tonne of MPC’s participating interest share of underground production, providing MPC’s share of revenue after all 
costs is at least $5.00 per ROM tonne in that quarter. 

The transaction also resulted in MPC paying $20.0 million as a pre-payment of its future contributions to the BLJV, monies 
which has been received subsequent to reporting date. 

Completion of the sale are subject to the usual conditions, including FIRB approval and indicative State Minister for 
Resources approval. 

Other events 

On 25 July 2023, the Company announced that Matthew Latimore has tendered a resignation notice, resigning as a Non-
Executive Director. As a result Stephen Downs also resigned (as Matthew Latimore’s appointed Alternate Director). 

On 27 July 2023, the Company announced that Gerhard Redelinghuys has tendered a resignation notice, resigning as an 
Executive Director. Gerhard Redelinghuys completed a notice period to 23 August 2023. 

On 28 August 2023, the Company announced that the Company is working with its lenders to extend the maturity of its senior 
and subordinated debt facilities. The terms of any potential extension are currently under consideration and subject to further 
negotiation. 

On 28 August 2023, the Company announced that the Bluff mine is currently undergoing a strategic review. The Company 
is currently in discussion with customers, contractors and other key stakeholders about the future operational stats of mine 
in the current pricing environment. It is expected that a final decision on the near-term future of the Bluff operations will be 
forthcoming. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



BOWEN COKING COAL LIMITED 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
30 JUNE 2023 
 

17 

Since 30 June 2023, the following securities were issued: 

● 25,489,047 Ordinary fully paid shares were issued on 24 July 2023 raising $4,333,138;
● 9,100,652 performance rights were issued to staff and management (under the Company’s Employee and Executive

Incentive Plan).

During August 2023, 240,832 performance rights lapsed. 

As at the date of this report the Company had 2,135,985,878 ordinary shares, 30,450,733 performance rights, 37,179,000 
options and 40,000,000 Convertible Notes on issue. 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which will significantly affect, or may significantly 
affect, the state of affairs or operations of in future financial periods. 

Business Risks 
The Company identifies and actively manages the material risks and internal control systems. The risk management 
framework is overseen by Executive and the Board of Directors. The framework assists the organisation to identify, classify, 
document, manage and report on the risks facing the Company. The perceived likelihood and potential consequence of each 
risk are used to determine the risk level, which in turn determines the actions required to manage the risk and reporting 
obligations. The newly formed Audit and Risk Management Committee will ensure relevant risks have been recognised and 
perform oversight of the risk management systems. 

At the front-line operational level, all employees are required and empowered to identify and manage the risks that arise 
within their area of responsibility. This governance structure supports the Company’s risk management framework and 
enables effective management of material risks. 

The prospects of the Group in progressing their exploration and development projects and successfully operating mines may 
be affected by a number of factors. These factors are similar to most exploration and development companies moving through 
the exploration phase and advancing projects into development and production. The risks described below are considered 
to have the greatest potential impact on the Group’s ability to successfully execute its strategy, however additional or 
unknown risks not listed below may also have the ability to impair business operations.  
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A summary of the significant risks facing the entity include the following: 

Potential 
risks Description Current actions to manage 

Funding The Group’s ability to effectively transition into a coal 
producing business may be dependent upon several 
factors including restructuring of its debt, speed of 
mine development activities, the ability to manage 
working capital requirements, delivery of consistent 
cashflows, successful mining operations, funding of 
rail and port bonding requirements and/or the 
successful exploration and subsequent development 
of the Group’s tenements.   

Should the Group be unable to restructure its debt 
and should there be significant delays to coal 
presentation or the planned performance from the 
mining assets, due to significant weather or market 
supply shortages in labour or equipment, the Group’s 
available cash to meet its ongoing commitments may 
be impacted. 

There is no guarantee that additional funding through 
debt will be available, or if it is, there is no guarantee 
that such new funding will be on terms acceptable to 
the Group.  

Global markets have been severely constrained in the 
past, and the ability to obtain new funding or refinance 
terms may in the future be significantly reduced.  

Increasingly, financial institutions have made public 
statements in relation to their unwillingness to finance 
certain types of coal mines and coal-fired power 
stations.  

If the Group is unable to obtain sufficient funding, 
either due to credit and capital market conditions 
generally, or due to factors specific to the coal sector, 
the Group may not have sufficient cash to meet its 
ongoing capital requirements or the ability to expand 
its business. 

The Group is considering options to restructure its 
current secured debts and is seeking funding 
assistance through debt deferral, equity or may 
conduct an asset sale to ensure the Group can 
continue as a going concern and meet its debts as 
and when they fall due. 

Should these avenues be delayed or fail to 
materialise, the Group may need to raise additional 
funding through debt, equity or farm out/sell down to 
allow the Group to continue to execute its strategy 
and continue operating as a going concern and meet 
its debts as and when they fall due.  

Taking into account, the recent cashflows from sale of 
coal, the current working capital position of the Group, 
as well as the Group’s historical ability to raise further 
capital, the Directors believe that the Group will have 
adequate resources to fund its future operational 
requirements. 

The Group’s budgeting, forecasting and cashflow 
reports assist in actively managing funding risks on a 
day-to-day basis. 
 
The Group will monitor market conditions and explore 
opportunities to diversify funding sources, as well as 
maintain active engagement with existing and future 
potential providers of funding. 

Social 
License 

A number of stakeholders have varying interests in 
the Group’s prospective areas of operations. The 
ability of the Group to secure and undertake 
exploration and development activities within those 
areas is reliant upon the adequate acknowledgement 
of the interests of those stakeholders and the 
satisfactory resolution of native title and (potentially) 
overlapping tenure. 

Failure to adequately acknowledge and address this 
risk could negatively impact the operations of the 
Company, and potentially result in an inability to 
secure, maintain or renew the regulatory approvals 
required to continue operations. 

To address this risk, the Group develops strong, long 
term effective relationships with landholders with a 
focus on developing mutually acceptable access 
arrangements. 

This is supported by the Company’s induction and 
training systems which educate personnel as to the 
stakeholder interests and relevant requirements for 
access and operations. 
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Potential 
risks Description Current actions to manage 

Environ-
mental 

All phases of mining and exploration present 
environmental risks and hazards. The Group’s 
operations are subject to environmental regulations 
pursuant to a variety of state and municipal laws and 
regulations. 

Environmental legislation provides for, among other 
things, restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases 
or emissions of various substances produced in 
association with mining operations.  

Compliance with such legislation can require 
significant expenditures and a breach may result in 
the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which 
may be material.  

Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner 
expected to result in stricter standards and 
enforcement, larger fines and liability and potentially 
increased capital expenditures and operating costs. 
Environmental assessments of proposed projects 
carry a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and directors, officers and employees. 

The Group assesses each of its projects very carefully 
with respect to potential environmental issues, in 
conjunction with specific environmental regulations 
applicable to each project, prior to commencing field 
exploration, development and operations. 

Environment Management Systems are established at 
Corporate and at the operations to assist in 
monitoring compliance against relevant obligations. 

Reviews and inspections are undertaken regularly to 
ensure the controls are operating as designed.  

Safety The Health and Safety of the Group’s employees and 
contracting partners remains of critical importance in 
the planning, organisation and execution of the 
Group’s exploration, development, and operating 
activities. 

Failure to provide adequate Safety and Health 
management system could lead to the injury of 
employees and contractors and as a consequence 
result in financial and reputational losses from the 
shutdown of operations. 

The Group has a Safety and Health Management 
system which is designed to minimise the risk of an 
uncontrolled safety and health event and to 
continuously improve the safety culture within the 
organisation. 

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining 
a working environment in which its people are not 
exposed to hazards that will jeopardise an employee’s 
health and safety or the health and safety of others 
associated with the Group’s activities. 

Development 
and 
operating 

The Group has historically undertaken exploration 
activities only but during the year advanced towards 
development and operating activities following 
restarting of the Bluff mine and through mine 
development activities at the Burton mining complex 
and operational start up at Broadmeadow East pit.  

As a result, there are numerous mine development 
and operating risks which may result in delayed mine 
development and / or a reduction in performance that 
decreases the Group’s ability to develop assets on 
time and on budget and to produce high quality coal 
to meet customer shipping needs.  

These risks may result in financial losses and/or cash 
flow risk to the business. 

The Group use highly experienced and reputable 
contractors and other third parties for exploration, 
development, mining and other general services, and 
are reliant on several third parties for the success of 
the Group’s operations and the development of 
growth projects.  

While this is normal for the mining industry, problems 
caused by third parties may arise, which may have an 
impact on the Group’s performance and operations. 

Executives and senior management closely oversee 
and manage the operational activities at the Group’s 
projects to ensure that third party providers perform 
as per expectations, and monitor compliance to the 
contract.  

Additionally, the mines maintain operational risk 
registers which outline their controls for managing the 
relevant risks and this is communicated to the Board. 
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Potential 
risks Description Current actions to manage 

Geological There is a risk of loss of coal resources, and / or 
material inaccuracies in geological databases and 
supporting information, as well as changes in 
geological structures which may negatively impact the 
Group’s mining operations and project financial 
viability. 

Resource and Reserve estimates are prepared by 
external experts in accordance with the JORC Code 
2012 for reporting. 

Coal Resources are estimated using various 
assumptions regarding drill spacing and drilling depth, 
coal quality and other geotechnical constraints. For 
the reported Resources, some of the deposits are 
more sensitive to the cost and revenue assumptions 
used than others due to the characteristics and 
geological structure of those deposits. 

Due care is taken with each estimation but is 
expected to change and become more defined as 
more detailed planning is undertaken. 

Exploration The results of the exploration activities may be such 
that the estimated resources are insufficient to justify 
the financial viability of the projects and therefore 
impact longevity of activities. 

The Group undertakes extensive exploration and 
product quality testing prior to establishing JORC 
compliant resource estimates and to (ultimately) 
support mining feasibility studies. 

The Group engages external experts to assist with the 
evaluation of exploration results where required and 
utilises third party competent persons or suitably 
qualified senior management of the Group to prepare 
JORC resource statements. 

Economic feasibility modelling of projects will be 
conducted in conjunction with third party experts and 
the results of which will usually be subject to 
independent third-party peer review. 
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Potential 
risk Description Current actions to manage 

Market In addition to the funding and finance risks noted 
above, the Group is exposed to market risks relating 
to commodity prices, interest rates and foreign 
currency which can result in exploration, development 
and / or operating assets becoming uneconomical.  

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk is 
predominantly changes in metallurgical coal prices, 
which are driven by various factors, including but not 
limited to, changes in seaborne supply, geopolitical 
economic activity, commodity substitution, 
international demand and contract sales negotiations. 

The Group is not of a size to have an influence on 
coal prices or the exchange rate for Australian Dollars 
and is therefore a price-taker in general terms, similar 
to other companies in this industry.  

The Group sells export coal in United States (US) 
dollar and is therefore exposed to movements in 
currency rates. While the Group has not historically 
entered into mechanisms to hedge against coal price 
volatility and foreign currency risk, it continuously 
reviews opportunities to implement such options. 

Insurance There is a risk that the policies of financial institutions 
and various markets with respect to the funding of 
coal projects, may extend to an unwillingness to 
provide insurance products to coal producers and 
associated companies or on terms that are acceptable 
to the Group. 

This could result in a material increase in the cost to 
the Group of obtaining appropriate levels of insurance 
or the Group being unable to secure adequate 
insurance cover. 

While positive and proactive relationships are 
maintained with the insurance market, opportunities 
exist for the Group to continuously monitor the market 
with respect to insurance products. 
 
The Group actively participates in a comprehensive 
insurance program to ensure assets are insured for 
appropriate value. 

Other risks and opportunities that the Group actively monitors and manages revolve around cyber security and information 
systems, transportation and logistics, and human resources. 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

Environmental regulation 
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulations under the (Federal, State and local) laws in Australia. The 
directors monitor the Group’s compliance with environmental obligations. The directors are not aware of any significant 
compliance breach arising during the year and up to the date of this report. 

Native Title 
Mining tenements that the Group currently holds, may be subject to Native Title claims. The Group has a policy that is 
respectful of the Native Title rights and will, as required, negotiate with relevant indigenous bodies. 

Remuneration report (audited) 
The report details the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel remuneration of the Group. This 
report forms part of the Director's Report and has been audited in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 
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The names of key management personnel of Bowen Coking Coal Ltd who have held office during the financial year are: 

Nicholas Jorss Executive Chairman 
Gerhard Redelinghuys Executive Director (resigned 23 August 2023) 
Matthew Latimore Non-Executive Director (resigned 25 July 2023) 
Neville Sneddon Non-Executive Director 
David Conry Non-Executive Director (appointed 23 June 2023) 
Stephen Downs Alternative Director for Matthew Latimore (appointed 4 November 2022 and 

resigned 25 July 2023) 
Mark Ruston Chief Executive Officer (appointed 27 March 2023) 
Daryl Edwards Chief Financial Officer  

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
The Group’s remuneration policy seeks to align director and executive objectives with those of shareholders and the 
business, while at the same time, recognising the development and early production stage of the Group and the criticality of 
funds being utilised to achieve development objectives. The board believes the current policy has been appropriate and 
effective in achieving a balance of these objectives.  

The Group’s remuneration policy provides for short-term bonuses, long-term incentives and staff retention to be offered 
through an employee equity incentive plan. Options, shares or performance rights may be granted under this plan to align 
directors’, executives’, employees’ and shareholders’ interests. Methods used to achieve this include securities that vest 
upon reaching or exceeding specific predetermined objectives, securities with future vesting dates based on continued 
employment and options granted with higher exercise prices (than the share price at issue) rewarding share price growth.  

During the reporting period, the board of directors was responsible for determining and reviewing the Group’s remuneration 
policy, remuneration levels and performance of both executive and non-executive directors. Independent external advice will 
be sought when required. During the year the board of directors engaged an independent remuneration consultant, AP 
Search Pty Ltd, to provide a remuneration benchmarking update. The board of directors are satisfied the report received 
from AP Search Pty Ltd is free from undue influence from the KMP to whom the remuneration recommendations apply. The 
report provided input into decision making only. The fees paid to AP Search Pty Ltd for the report were $15,000.  

Going forward the newly formed Nomination & Remuneration Committees will ensure that all engagements with independent 
external remuneration consultants, and recommendations (if any) are free from undue influence. At times, remuneration 
consultants may be required to interact with management to obtain relevant information required to form any remuneration 
recommendations. The Chair of the Nomination & Remuneration Committees will have oversight of these interactions. 

Performance-based Remuneration 
Performance-based remuneration includes both short-term and long-term incentives and is designed to reward key 
management personnel for reaching or exceeding specific objectives or as recognition for strong individual performance. 
Short term incentives are available to eligible staff of the Group and may be comprised of cash and/or shares bonuses, 
determined on a discretionary basis by the board. During the reporting period 948,560 shares and 17,931,270 performance 
rights which have various vesting conditions (including continuous employment) were issued to staff and management (under 
the Company’s Employee and Executive Incentive Plan). No short-term incentives were made available to staff subsequent 
to 30 June 2023. 

Long-term incentives are currently comprised of share options and performance rights, which are granted from time-to-time 
to encourage sustained strong performance in the realisation of strategic outcomes and growth in shareholder value. 

The exercise price of the options is determined after taking into account the underlying share price performance in the period 
leading up to the date of grant and if applicable, performance conditions attached to the share options. Subject to specific 
vesting conditions, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.  

The Group’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration of board members and key executives is set out 
below.  

Directors 
Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and 
responsibilities. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval 
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and is not linked to the performance of the Group. The maximum aggregate 
amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors approved by shareholders is currently $500,000. One-third, by 
number, of non-executive directors retires by rotation at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. Retiring directors are 
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eligible for re-election by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Company. The appointment conditions of the 
non-executive directors are set out and agreed in letters of appointment.  

The Non-executive directors (Matthew Latimore, Neville Sneddon and David Conry) receive a total fee of $108,489 including 
superannuation per annum, while in servicing appointment of office.   

Executive 
The remuneration structure for executives is based on a number of factors, including length of service, particular experience 
of the individual concerned, and overall performance of the Group.  

The executives receive payments provided for under an employment or service agreement, which may include cash, 
superannuation, short-term incentives and equity-based performance remuneration.  

The Company has entered into an employment agreement with Gerhard Redelinghuys, the Company’s Executive Director 
on the following material terms:  

● Notice period: The Company must give 3 months’ notice to terminate the agreement other than for cause. The parties
have come to a mutual agreement to end his employment on 23 August 2023.

● Remuneration: $730,106 including superannuation per annum (effective from 1 October 2022).
● Other industry standard provisions for senior executive of a public listed company are included in the agreement.

The Company has entered an executive services agreement with Nicholas Jorss, the Company’s Executive Chairman. The 
current material terms include:  

● Notice period: The Company must give 4 months’ notice to terminate the agreement other than for cause. The executive 
must give 4 months’ notice to terminate the agreement.

● Remuneration: $541,106 per annum including superannuation per annum (effective from 1 October 2022).

The Company has entered an executive employment agreement with Mark Ruston, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 
The material terms include: 

● Notice period: The Company must give 4 months’ notice to terminate the agreement other than for cause. The executive 
must give 4 months’ notice to terminate the agreement.

● Remuneration: $700,000 including superannuation per annum.
● Discretionary benefits: Annual cash bonus up to 50% of gross salary (at Board discretion) plus 15.0 million performance

rights issued on commencement. Other share-based payments from time to time at the discretion of the Board.
● Other industry standard provisions for senior executive of a public listed company are included in the agreement.

The Company has entered an executive services agreement with Daryl Edwards, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. 
The material terms include: 

● Notice period: The Company must give 4 months’ notice to terminate the agreement other than for cause. The executive 
must give 4 months’ notice to terminate the agreement.

● Remuneration: $482,106 including superannuation per annum (effective from 1 October 2022).
● Other industry standard provisions for senior executive of a public listed company are included in the agreement.
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Remuneration details of Key Management Personnel 

The remuneration of the key management personnel of Bowen Coking Coal Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2023 was as 
follows: 

Short Term 
Benefits 

Long Term 
Benefits 

Post- 
Employment 

Equity-settled 
Share-based 

Payments 

Key Management Personnel 
Salary & 

Fees 

Provision for 
leave 

entitlements 
Super- 

annuation 
Options/ 
Rights Total 

Performance 
related 

$ $ $ $ $ % 

Nicholas Jorss 439,579 - 24,671 - 464,250 - 
Gerhard Redelinghuys 620,708 133,019 25,292 - 779,019 - 
Matthew Latimore 89,140 - 9,360 - 98,500 - 
Neville Sneddon  89,140 - 9,360 - 98,500 - 
David Conry* 2,048 - 225 - 2,273 - 
Mark Ruston** 181,652 18,688 7,685 611,816 819,841 75% 
Daryl Edwards 432,139 52,773 25,292 230,363 740,567 31% 

1,854,406 204,480 101,885 842,179 3,002,950 

* Represents remuneration from appointment date, 23 June 2023 to 30 June 2023
** Represents remuneration from appointment date 27 March 2023 to 30 June 2023

The remuneration of the key management personnel of Bowen Coking Coal Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2022 was as 
follows:  

Short Term 
Benefits 

Long Term 
Benefits* 

Post-
Employment 

Equity-settled 
Share-based 

Payments 

Key Management Personnel 
Salary & 

Fees 

Provision for 
leave 

entitlements 
Super- 

annuation 
Options/ 
Rights Total 

Performance 
related 

$ $ $ $ $ % 

Nicholas Jorss 206,061 - 20,606 469,469 696,136 67% 
Gerhard Redelinghuys 349,765 44,136 23,568 704,204 1,121,673 63% 
Matthew Latimore 53,333 - 5,333 140,841 199,507 71% 
Neville Sneddon 53,333 - 5,333 140,841 199,507 71% 
Blair Sergeant 7,500 - - - 7,500 - 
Daryl Edwards 378,208 14,017 11,784 253,974 657,983 39% 

1,048,200 58,153 66,624 1,709,329 2,882,306 

*The comparative information was updated to align the disclosure with current year's presentation.
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The percentage of equity-based remuneration for persons who were key management personnel of the Group during the 
year ended 30 June 2023 is set out below: 

Proportion of 
Remuneration 

Proportion of 
Remuneration 

Equity Based 
Salary and 

Fees 
Key Management Personnel % % 

Nicholas Jorss - 100%
Gerhard Redelinghuys - 100%
Matthew Latimore - 100%
Neville Sneddon  - 100%
David Conry - 100%
Mark Ruston 75% 25%
Daryl Edwards 31% 69%

Company performance, shareholder wealth, and director and executive remuneration 

The Company has generated losses as it transitions from principal activity of mineral exploration through to development 
stages of reaching steady- state production and sales. As the Company transitions from primarily exploration and 
development stage through to steady-state operations, the link between remuneration, Company performance and 
shareholder wealth is tenuous. Share prices are subject to the influence of commodity prices and market sentiment towards 
the sector, and as such, increases and decreases might occur independent of executive performance and remuneration. 

The table below sets out information abouts the Group's earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the past five 
years up to and including the current financial year. 

30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 30 Jun 2021 30 Jun 2020 30 Jun 2019 

Loss before income tax expense ($) 162,937,109 18,302,414 3,224,368 2,057,812 1,579,050 
Share price at year end (cents) 0.16 0.31 0.08 0.05 0.05 
Basic loss per share (cents) 9.38 1.39 0.35 0.26 0.26 
Total dividends (cents per share) - - - - - 

Share-based compensation 

Issue of shares 
Details of shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 
30 June 2023 are set out below: 

Key Management Personnel Grant & Vesting Date Shares Issue price $ 

Daryl Edwards 5 July 2022 148,944 $0.23 34,257 

This issue was a discretionary award for rewarding past performance. 

No shares have been granted to Key Management Personnel since the end of the financial year. 

Options 
There were no options over ordinary shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation that were outstanding as at 30 June 2023. 

No options have been granted to Key Management Personnel since the end of the financial year. 
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Performance Rights granted as remuneration 
  
The terms and conditions of each grant of performance right over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of directors and 
other key management personnel in this financial year are as follows: 

Key 
Management 
Personnel 

Number of 
Performance 

rights 
granted Grant date Vesting date Expiry date 

Exercise 
price 

Fair value 
per right at 
grant date 

Maximum 
value yet to 

vest** 
        
Mark Ruston 10,000,000 27/02/2023 31/12/2024 31/12/2025 nil 0.270 2,206,538 
Mark Ruston 5,000,000 27/02/2023 31/12/2026 31/12/2027 nil 0.270 1,231,646 
Daryl Edwards 4,000,000 01/02/2021 10/01/2023 31/12/2023 nil 0.050 - 
Daryl Edwards* 4,000,000 01/02/2021 unvested 31/12/2024 nil 0.050 76,977 
Daryl Edwards 99,296 05/07/2022 30/06/2023 30/06/2026 nil 0.230 - 
Daryl Edwards 99,296 05/07/2022 30/06/2024 30/06/2026 nil 0.230 11,498 
Daryl Edwards 99,296 05/07/2022 30/06/2025 30/06/2026 nil 0.230 15,288 
  
* Vesting dates are based on production milestones, the tranche has not reached the set milestone as at 30 June 2023. 
 
** The maximum value of the rights yet to vest has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair value of the rights 
that is yet to be expensed. 
  
All performance rights were granted over unissued fully paid ordinary shares in the Company. The number of performance 
rights granted was determined having regard to the satisfaction of performance measures and weightings as described above 
in the section 'Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration'. Performance rights vest based on the provision of 
service over the vesting period whereby the executive becomes beneficially entitled to the performance right on vesting date. 
Performance rights are exercisable by the holder as from the vesting date. There has not been any alteration to the terms or 
conditions of the grant since the grant date. There are no amounts paid or payable by the recipient in relation to the granting 
of such performance rights other than on their potential exercise. 
 
On 27 February 2023, 15.0 million performance rights, in two tranches, were issued to Mark Ruston subject to production 
milestones. The performance rights are also subject Mark Ruston remaining in continuous employment with the Company 
to the date the above vesting condition is met. 50% of the Performance Rights will vest upon meeting the condition, and 50% 
will vest 12 months after meeting the vesting condition. 
 
On 1 February 2021, 12.0 million performance rights, in three equal tranches, were issued to Daryl Edwards subject to 
production millstones. There are no other vesting conditions on the performance rights besides Daryl Edwards consulting to 
the Company at a rate of at least three days per week, or being a full-time employee, at the time of vesting of each Milestone. 
The first 2 tranches have been exercised. 
 
On 5 July 2022, 297,888 performance rights, in three equal tranches, were issued to Daryl Edwards under the Company’s 
Employee and Executive Incentive Plan with vesting conditions of continuous employment until 30 June 2023, 2024 & 2025 
respectively for each tranche. 
  
Values of performance rights over ordinary shares granted, exercised and lapsed for directors and other key management 
personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out below:  
  

Key Management Personnel 

Value of 
performance 

rights 
recognised 

during the year 

Value of 
performance 
rights lapsed 

during the 
year 

Remuneration 
consisting of 
performance 
rights for the 

year 
 $ $ % 
    
Mark Ruston 611,816 - 75%  
Daryl Edwards 230,363 - 31%  
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



BOWEN COKING COAL LIMITED 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
30 JUNE 2023 
 

  

  
27 

Shares issued on exercise of performance rights during the year ended 30 June 2023: 

Key Management Personnel 
Shares 

issued no. 
Paid per 

share cents 
   
   
Daryl Edwards 4,000,000 nil 
  
Since financial year end 843,385 performance rights, in three equal tranches, were issued to Mark Ruston under the 
Company’s Employee and Executive Incentive Plan with vesting conditions of continuous employment until 30 June 2024, 
2025 & 2026 respectively for each tranche. 
 
Similarly, 568,385 performance rights, in three equal tranches, were issued to Daryl Edwards under the Company’s 
Employee and Executive Incentive Plan with vesting conditions of continuous employment until 30 June 2024, 2025 & 2026 
respectively for each tranche. 
  

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 
 
Shareholding 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
  
  Received  Performance   
Key Management Personnel Balance at  as part of  rights Disposals/  Balance at  
 1 July 2022 remuneration exercised other 30 Jun 2023 
Ordinary shares      
Nicholas Jorss 66,036,882 - - (15,000,000) 51,036,882 
Gerhard Redelinghuys  62,237,358 - - (7,000,000) 55,237,358 
Matthew Latimore 234,448,072 - - (90,000,000) 144,448,072 
Neville Sneddon 7,454,365 - - - 7,454,365 
David Conry - - - - - 
Stephen Downs - - - - - 
Mark Ruston - - - - - 
Daryl Edwards 3,560,000 148,944 4,000,000 (4,696,945) 3,011,999 

  
 373,736,677 148,944 4,000,000 (116,696,945) 261,188,676 
 

 
Option held by Key Management Personnel 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
  
     Vested & 
 Balance at  Granted as  Balance at  Exercisable 
Key Management Personnel 1 July 2022 Compensation Exercised 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2023 
      
Options over ordinary shares      
Nicholas Jorss 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 10,000,000 
Gerhard Redelinghuys  15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 15,000,000 
Matthew Latimore 6,179,000 - - 6,179,000 6,179,000 
Neville Sneddon 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 

      
 34,179,000 - - 34,179,000 34,179,000 
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Performance Rights held by Key Management Personnel 

Details of Performance Rights held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel during the year ended 
30 June 2023 were as follows:  

Vested & 
Key Management Personnel Balance at Granted as  Balance at Exercisable 

1 July 2022 Compensation Exercised 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2023 

Mark Ruston - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - 
Daryl Edwards 8,000,000 297,888 (4,000,000) 4,297,888 99,296 

8,000,000 15,297,888 (4,000,000) 19,297,888 99,296 

Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties 
Bowen Coking Coal Ltd and Marmilu Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by Matthew Latimore formed a 50/50 joint venture via 
Bowen Coking Coal Marketing Pty Ltd. 

Matthew Latimore is the sole Director and owner of M Resources Trading Pty Ltd which is exclusively contracted to provide 
marketing and logistics services to the Group via the Bowen Coking Coal Marketing joint venture. During the year Bowen 
Coking Coal Marketing joint venture paid a marketing fee to M Resources Trading Pty Ltd based on 0.75% of the sales 
revenue. 

Bowen Coking Coal Marketing joint venture charges the Group a 1.75% marketing fee on sales of produced coal. 

Amounts recognised at the reporting date in relation to other transactions with related parties: 
30 Jun 2023 

Assets and liabilities $ 

Current assets 
Trade receivables from joint venture 31,960,949 

Total assets 31,960,949 

Current liabilities 
Trade payable to joint venture 528,360 
Trade payable to M Resources Trading Pty Ltd 68,402 
Accrued marketing fee payable to joint venture 565,280 

Total liabilities 1,162,042 

Expenses 

Marketing fee paid and payable to joint venture 4,091,630 
Marketing fee paid and payable to M Resources Trading Pty Ltd* 760,862 

Total expenses 4,852,492 

* These expenses related to the 50% of the fees paid by the Group.

Terms and conditions: 
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year end are unsecured and interest-free and settlements occurs in cash and are 
presented as part of trade receivable and trade payables as appropriate. They have been no guarantees provided or received 
from any related party receivable or payables. An assessment of the expect credit losses relating to related party receivables 
is undertaken upon initial recognition and each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operate applying the general approach of the ECL impairment models of IFRS 9. 

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
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Shares under option and performance rights 
Unissued ordinary shares of Bowen Coking Coal Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows: 

Exercise Number  
Grant date Expiry date price under option 

30 November 2021 30 November 2024 $0.10 3,179,000 
30 November 2021 30 September 2024 $0.25 34,000,000 

37,179,000 

At the date of this report, there are 30,450,733 unlisted performance rights on issue, with various vesting conditions and 
expiry dates.  

There have been no unissued shares or interests under option of any controlled entity within the Group during or since 
reporting date. Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any share issue or other interests in the Company or 
any other entity. 

Corporate Governance 
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Bowen Coking 
Coal Ltd support and, where practicable or appropriate, have adhered to the ASX Principles of Corporate Governance. The 
Company’s Corporate Governance Statement is lodged separately on the ASX and can be found on the Company’s website 
(www.bowencokingcoal.com). 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young Australia, as part of the 
terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount).  

No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young Australia during or since the financial year. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

Officers of the Company who are former partners of Ernst & Young 
There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of Ernst & Young. 

Non-audit services 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 32 to the financial statements. 

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
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The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
● all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity

of the auditor; and
● none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company,
acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services to RSM Australia Partners, the previous auditor 
of the Group: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Other Services 
Amount paid/payable for preparation and lodgement of QLD stamp duty 34,932 15,000 
Amount paid/payable for Long Service Leave Audit 5,932 -  
Amount paid/payable for file review 2,100 -  

42,964 15,000 

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report. 

Auditor 
Ernst & Young continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

___________________________ 
Nicholas Jorss 
Executive Chairman and Director 

4 September 2023 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Bowen Coking 
Coal Limited 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Bowen Coking Coal Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2023, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit;

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in
relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Bowen Coking Coal Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
financial year. 

Ernst & Young 

Tom du Preez 
Partner 
4 September 2023 
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BOWEN COKING COAL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 
 

  
  Consolidated 
 Note 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
  $ $ 
    

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 

32 

Revenue    
Revenue from contracts with customers 3 204,475,121  11,862,313  
Other income 4 5,464,592  -   

  209,939,713  11,862,313  
    
 

Expenses    
Employee benefits expense 5 (7,972,432) (1,311,427) 
Operating expenses 6 (286,044,873) (24,000,041) 
Other expenses 7 (38,042,253) (5,158,480) 
Net inventory movements  54,175,963  5,999,733  
Foreign exchange gains  501,825  -   
Depreciation and amortisation expense 18 (12,856,676) (629,341) 
Impairment expense 8 (19,097,657) -   
Onerous contract expense 8 (16,454,000) -   
Royalties expense  (35,142,157) (2,200,798) 
Share-based payments 9 (1,800,752) (2,164,809) 

    
 

Operating loss  (152,793,299) (17,602,850) 
    
 

Finance income 10 13,914,595  5,506  
Finance expense 11 (25,050,903) (716,260) 
Share of profit from joint ventures 39 992,498  11,190  

    
 

Loss before income tax expense  (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 
    
 

Income tax expense 12 -   -   

    
 

Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of Bowen 
Coking Coal Limited 28 (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 
    
 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -   -   

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of Bowen 
Coking Coal Limited  (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 

    
 

  Cents Cents 
    
Basic loss per share 13 (9.38) (1.39) 
Diluted loss per share 13 (9.38) (1.39) 
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Note 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ 
Restated 

$ 
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Assets 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 48,944,668 72,520,051 
Trade and other receivables 15 36,514,257 15,088,758 
Inventories 16 60,485,170 5,999,733 
Other assets 17 4,250,602 2,505,614 

Total current assets 150,194,697 96,114,156 

Non-current assets 
Trade and other receivables 15 - 255,000
Property, plant and equipment 18 160,309,222 43,449,352
Investments accounted for using the equity method 19 938,688 -  
Exploration and evaluation assets 20 10,989,468 10,250,911 
Other assets 17 85,364,117 22,632,803 

Total non-current assets 257,601,495 76,588,066 

Total assets 407,796,192 172,702,222 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 21 120,631,203 31,871,292 
Deferred consideration 22 2,500,000 -  
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 23,43 130,831,285 48,726,924 
Lease liability 24 141,062 53,596 
Provisions 25 20,059,715 135,818 

Total current liabilities 274,163,265 80,787,630 

Non-current liabilities 
Deferred consideration 22 3,844,606 -  
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 23 28,021,504 5,817,949 
Lease liability 24 280,902 29,201 
Provisions 25 66,438,505 15,777,762 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 19 - 53,810

Total non-current liabilities 98,585,517 21,678,722 

Total liabilities 372,748,782 102,466,352 

Net assets 35,047,410 70,235,870 

Equity 
Issued capital 26 261,285,098 134,113,511 
Reserves 27 4,726,236 4,149,174 
Accumulated losses 28 (230,963,924) (68,026,815) 

Total equity 35,047,410 70,235,870 
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Issued 
Share-based 

payment 
Convertible 

Note Accumulated  
Total equity capital reserve reserve losses 

Consolidated $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2021 63,917,409 755,943 - (49,724,401) 14,948,951 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - - (18,302,414) (18,302,414) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (18,302,414) (18,302,414) 

Issue of shares 67,948,948 - - - 67,948,948 
Exercise of options 2,349,740 - - - 2,349,740 
Issue of Bluff consideration 4,750,000 - - - 4,750,000 

Conversion of performance shares 261,000 (261,000) - - - 
Share-based payments (note 9) - 2,164,809 - - 2,164,809 
Share issue costs (5,113,586) 1,489,422 - - (3,624,164) 
Issue of convertible note as previously reported - - 13,210,888 - 13,210,888
Restatement (note 43) - - (13,210,888) - (13,210,888)

Balance at 30 June 2022 (Restated) 134,113,511 4,149,174 - (68,026,815) 70,235,870 

Issued 
Share-based 

payment 
Convertible 

Note Accumulated 
Total equity capital reserve reserve losses 

Consolidated  $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2022 (Restated) 134,113,511 4,149,174 - (68,026,815) 70,235,870 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - - (162,937,109) (162,937,109) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (162,937,109) (162,937,109) 

Issue of Shares 130,666,861 - - - 130,666,861 
Exercise of options 582,100 - - - 582,100 
Conversion of performance shares 1,223,690 (1,223,690) - - - 

Share-based payments (note 9) - 1,800,752 - - 1,800,752 
Share issue costs (5,301,064) - - - (5,301,064) 

Balance at 30 June 2023 261,285,098 4,726,236 - (230,963,924) 35,047,410 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
  $ $ 
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Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers  185,478,434  -   
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)  (287,122,823) (19,017,796) 
Interest received  122,323  5,506  
Other income  3,592,377  -   
Interest and other finance costs paid  (7,212,826) -   

    
Net cash used in operating activities 44 (105,142,515) (19,012,290) 

    
 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for property, plant and equipment 18 (66,988,661) (11,623,205) 
Payments for exploration and evaluation 20 (292,706) (3,372,219) 
Payments for asset acquisition 22 (22,479,435) -   
Payment for loans to joint venture  -   (122,000) 
Payment for exploration costs recoverable from farmee 20 (1,373,404) (432,610) 
Recovered for exploration costs from farmee 20 927,553  1,036,790  
Payments for rehabilitation and other deposits  (10,411,933) (18,115,402) 
Receipt for loans to joint venture 15 255,000  -   

    
Net cash used in investing activities  (100,363,586) (32,628,646) 
    
 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of shares 26 131,248,962  70,298,688  
Share issue transaction costs 26 (5,301,064) (3,624,164) 
Proceeds from Convertible Notes  -   40,000,000  
Proceeds from borrowings 23 72,035,415  20,207,252  
Financing transaction costs 23 -   (5,662,379) 
Repayment of borrowings 23 (16,236,165) -   
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 24 (103,563) (55,440) 

    
Net cash from financing activities  181,643,585  121,163,957  

    
 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (23,862,516) 69,523,021  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  72,520,051  2,997,030  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  287,133  -   

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 14 48,944,668  72,520,051  
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Note 1. General information and significant accounting policies 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate Bowen Coking Coal Limited and its Controlled Entities (the 'Group'). 
Bowen Coking Coal Limited (the 'Company' or parent entity') is a listed public company, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. 

The Company's registered office and principal place of business are: 

Registered office Principal place of business 

Level 4, 167 Eagle Street Level 4, 167 Eagle Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 Brisbane QLD 4000 

A description of the nature of the Group's operations and its principal activities are included in the directors' report, which is 
not part of the financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 4 September
2023. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards, and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. Bowen Coking Coal Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial 
statements. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.  

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical cost, modified 
by the measurement at fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities.   

For the current financial year the Group has changed the presentation of its statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income to categorise costs by nature, rather than function, on the basis that it provides more relevant 
representation of the Group's operating expenditure incurred given the Group’s transition to production during the period. 
The Group regard this revised presentation as more relevant as it better aligns and enhances comparability with its industry 
peers. Comparative information has been reclassified on a consistent basis to the current year's presentation format. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out either in the 
respective notes or below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Group adopted all new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. The adoption of these Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations had no material impact on the Group.  

The Group early adopted AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018– 
2020 and Other Amendments in the prior financial year. As a consequence of adopting this amendment to Australian 
Accounting Standards the Group recognises sales proceeds from selling items produced while preparing property, plant and 
equipment for its intended use and the related cost of sales in profit or loss.  

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 
To date, there have been no recent accounting pronouncements issued not yet effective that have significance, or potential 
significance, to the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Going concern 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 have been prepared on a going concern basis which 
contemplates the continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the 
ordinary course of business.  
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 the Group generated a consolidated loss of $162.9 million (2022: $18.3 million) and 
incurred operating cash outflows of $105.1 million (2022: $19.0 million). As at 30 June 2023 the Group has cash and cash 
equivalents of $48.9 million (2022: $72.5 million) and net assets of $35.0 million (2022: $70.2 million).  

The Group’s ability to continue to generate operational cash flows to meet its financial obligations is based on the 
performance of its operations and those of the mining contractors, as well as the timing and price received for coal sales 
shipments. The Directors, in their consideration of the appropriateness of the going concern basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements, have prepared a cash flow forecast through to 30 September 2024 which indicates that, subject to the 
successful restructure of its debt and other liquidity measures referred to below, the Group will have sufficient cash to 
continue as a going concern. However, should the Group be unable to restructure its debt and should there be significant 
delays to coal presentation or the planned performance from the mining assets, due to significant weather or market supply 
shortages in labour or equipment, the Group’s available cash to meet its ongoing commitments may be impacted. In addition, 
volatility in coal prices realised for coal sales in the forecast may cause operating margins to be constrained. To ensure the 
Group has sufficient liquidity, the Group is considering options to restructure its current secured debts and will be required 
to seek funding assistance through debt deferral, equity or conduct an asset sale to ensure the Group can continue as a 
going concern and meet its debts as and when they fall due. 

There is no guarantee that additional funding through debt will be available, or if it is, that such new funding will be on terms 
acceptable to the Group. Global markets have been severely constrained in the past, and the ability to obtain new funding 
or refinance may in the future be significantly reduced. If the Group is unable to obtain sufficient funding, either due to credit 
and capital market conditions generally, or due to factors specific to the coal sector, the Group may not have sufficient cash 
to meet its ongoing capital and operational cash flow requirements or the ability to continue development of its business. 

Taking into account the recent cashflows from coal sales, the current working capital position of the Group, as well as the 
Group’s historical ability to raise further capital, the Directors believe that the Group will have adequate resources to fund its 
future operational requirements and continue as a going concern for at least 12 months after the date that the financial 
statements are issued. 

Should the Group be unsuccessful in achieving the matters set out above, a material uncertainty would exist that may cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets 
and extinguish its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business. This financial report does not include any 
adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts or classification of 
liabilities and appropriate disclosures that may be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern. 

Parent entity information 
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 37. 

Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Bowen Coking Coal Limited 
as at 30 June 2023 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 

The names of the subsidiaries are contained in note 38. All subsidiaries in Australia have a 30 June financial year end and 
are accounted for by the parent entity at cost. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 
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Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The Group recognises 
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in 
profit or loss. 

Foreign currency 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Bowen Coking Coal Limited's functional and 
presentation currency. 

Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange 
rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences 
are recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity. 

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below and where 
relevant in the respective notes to the financial statements. 

These include: 

Judgments: 

● Recovery of deferred tax assets (note 12)
● Right of use assets (note 18) and liability (note 24)
● Exploration and evaluation (note 20)
● Asset acquisition (note 22)
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Estimates and assumptions: 

● Provision for impairment of inventories (note 16)
● Recoverability of non-current assets (note 18)
● Unit of production (UOP) depreciation (note 18)
● Asset acquisition (note 22)
● Rehabilitation provision (note 25)
● Provision for onerous contracts (note 25)
● Other long-term employee benefits (note 25)

Note 3. Revenue from contracts with customers 

Accounting Policy 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in exchange 
for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Group: identifies the contract with a 
customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account 
estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and 
recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer 
of the goods or services promised.  

Sale of coal 
Revenue from the sale of coal is recognised in the profit or loss when performance obligations have been met, which is 
deemed to be when control of the coal has been transferred from the Group to the customer. Typically, the transfer of control 
and the recognition of a sale occurs when the coal passes the ship rail when loading at the port. 

As is customary with ‘free on board’ contracts, parameters such as coal quality and mass are tested using independent 
experts and weight meters as the vessel is being loaded. The bill of lading is only issued upon verification and confirmation 
from several parties involved with the logistic and handling process. Once confirmed, the measured parameters form the 
basis for calculation of final price on the commercial invoice. All customer contracts specify a known price and tolerance 
range for quality parameters prior to the Group committing to the supply of coal to the customer. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Sale of coal 204,475,121 11,862,313 

Note 4. Other income 

Accounting Policy 

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Rental income 66,600 -  
Other income 5,394,855 -  
Profit on disposal of lease 3,137 -  

5,464,592 -
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Note 5. Employee benefits expense 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Salaries & wages 4,871,521 286,450 
Directors fees 1,440,270 852,209 
Employee benefits 1,660,641 172,768 

7,972,432 1,311,427 

Note 6. Operating expenses 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Mining costs 238,526,257 17,953,819 
Processing costs 21,105,113 4,656,321 
Transport and logistics 26,413,503 1,389,901 

286,044,873 24,000,041 

Note 7. Other expenses 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Accounting and audit fees 520,615 136,206 
Administration and other expenses 17,762,325 3,926,994 
Operational accommodation and travel expenses 13,721,900 116,116 
Corporate compliance expenses 2,503,875 661,061 
Sales and marketing expenses 3,533,538 318,103 

38,042,253 5,158,480 

Note 8. Impairment expense 

Accounting Policy 

Refer to note 18. 

Impairment expenses recognised in the year 

During the year, as the result of the Bluff mine not having reached steady-state operations and as result of declining coal 
prices, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of the Bluff mine. These assets are used in the Group’s 
Mining and sale of coal reportable segment. The Group determined that the carrying value of Bluff mine exceeds its estimated 
recoverable value. The review led to the recognition of an impairment expense for the year ended 30 June 2023 of $19.1 
million, which has been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined on the basis 
of the CGU's value in use, using discounted future cashflows. The post-tax nominal discount rate used in measuring value 
in use over the remaining life of the mine (which was less than 5 years) was 10.33% per annum. No impairment assessment 
was performed for the year ended 30 June 2022, as there was no indication of impairment given the mine had just 
commenced operations a few months earlier. Management has also assessed future commitments and recognised a $16.5 
million onerous contracts expenses which has been recognised in profit or loss (note 25). 
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As a result of the recoverable amount analysis performed on the Bluff mine during the year, the following impairment losses 
were recognised: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Impairment losses 
Plant and equipment 218,033 -  
Mining assets 18,879,624 -  

19,097,657 -  

Note 9. Share-based payments 

Accounting Policy 

The Group makes equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees. The fair value of the equity is measured 
at grant date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to an equity account. 
The fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price. The fair value of options is ascertained using the Black-
Scholes option valuation pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. Where applicable, the number of 
shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at each reporting date such that the amount recognised for 
services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments 
that eventually vest. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value 
of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.  

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting period, 
any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.  

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification.  

Share-based payment expense recognised during the year: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Options issued to directors and company secretary (1) - 1,596,196
Performance rights issued to a consultant (2) 116,317 77,333 
Performance rights issued to the Chief Financial Officer (3) 154,377 253,974 
Performance rights issued to an employee (4) 220,194 237,306 
Employee related bonus shares issued (5) 218,169 -  
Performance rights issued to a group of employees (6) 273,233 -  
Performance rights issued to another group of employees (7) 206,646 -  
Performance rights issued to the Chief Executive Officer (8) 611,816 -  

1,800,752 2,164,809 
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  Notes for the above table are:  
 (1) 34,000,000 options were granted to directors and the company secretary with an exercise price of $0.25 on 30 November 
2021. The options vested on 30 November 2021 and expire on 30 September 2024.  
 (2) 12,000,000 performance rights which have various vesting conditions, performance hurdles and expiry dates were 
granted to a consultant on 16 September 2019.  
 (3) 12,000,000 performance rights which have various vesting conditions, performance hurdles and expiry dates were 
granted to the Chief Financial Officer on 2 February 2021.  
 (4) 1,500,000 performance rights which have various vesting conditions, performance hurdles and expiry dates were granted 
to an employee on 13 April 2022. 
 (5) 948,560 shares granted to employees on 5 July 2022. 
 (6) 2,165,913 performance rights which have various vesting conditions linked to continuous employment and expiry date 
of 30 June 2026 were granted to a group of employees on 5 July 2022. 
 (7) 765,357 performance rights which had a vesting condition, performance hurdles and expiry dated were granted to 
employees working on the Burton CHPP on 11 November 2022. These performance rights were subsequently exercised in 
April and May 2023. 
 (8) 15,000,000 performance rights which have various vesting conditions, performance hurdles and expiry dates were 
granted to the Chief Executive Officer on 27 February 2023. 
  
Set out below are summaries of options granted: 
  

 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 30 Jun 2022 
     
Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year 43,000,000 $0.22  3,400,000 $0.07  
Granted - $0.00 64,000,000 $0.18  
Exercised (5,821,000) $0.10  (24,400,000) $0.09  

     
Outstanding at the end of the financial year 37,179,000 $0.24  43,000,000 $0.22  

  
Reconciliation of the options at 30 June 2023: 
  
   Balance at     Balance at  
  Exercise  the start of    Expired/  the end of  
Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised forfeited the year 
        
30/11/2021 30/09/2024 $0.25  34,000,000 - - - 34,000,000 
30/11/2021 30/11/2024 $0.10  9,000,000 - (5,821,000) - 3,179,000 

   43,000,000 - (5,821,000) - 37,179,000 

  
Weighted average exercise price $0.22  $0.00 $0.10  $0.00 $0.24  
  
Reconciliation of the options at 30 June 2022: 
  
   Balance at     Balance at  
  Exercise  the start of    Expired/  the end of  
Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised forfeited the year 
        
30/07/2020 30/09/2023 $0.08  1,300,000 - (1,300,000) - - 
11/11/2020 31/12/2022 $0.07  2,100,000 - (2,100,000) - - 
31/08/2021 31/08/2024 $0.10  - 21,000,000 (21,000,000) - - 
30/11/2021 30/09/2024 $0.25  - 34,000,000 - - 34,000,000 
30/11/2021 30/11/2024 $0.10  - 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000 

   3,400,000 64,000,000 (24,400,000) - 43,000,000 

  
Weighted average exercise price $0.07  $0.18  $0.09  $0.00 $0.22  
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Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the financial year: 

30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
Grant date Expiry date Number Number 

30/11/2021 30/09/2024 34,000,000 34,000,000 
30/11/2021 30/11/2024 3,179,000 9,000,000 

37,179,000 43,000,000 

For the options granted in previous financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at the grant 
date, are as follows: 

Share price Exercise Expected Dividend Risk-free Fair value 
Grant date Expiry date at grant date price volatility yield interest rate at grant date 

30/11/2021 30/09/2024 $0.15 $0.25 70.00% - 0.87% $0.05 
30/11/2021 30/11/2024 $0.15 $0.10 70.00% - 0.87% $0.09 

Options granted to directors and employees of the Company (“Incentive Options”) and brokers in exchange for providing 
lead manager services and underwriting for a capital raising (“Broker Options”), are valued at fair value using the Black 
Scholes option valuation methodology. 

Broker Options vested immediately on issue and the Incentive Options are not subject to any vesting conditions besides 
each respective holder remaining in continued service to the Company. 

Broker Options are recognised as "Share issue cost" in equity and Incentive Options are recognised as "Share- based 
payment" in profit and loss. 

Note 10. Finance income 

Accounting Policy 

Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Convertible note 
Refer to note 23 for accounting policy. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Interest income, calculated using the effective interest rate method 122,320 5,506 
Convertible note, derivative liability fair value adjustment 13,792,275 -  

13,914,595 5,506 
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Note 11. Finance expense 

Accounting Policy 

Finance expense consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

Finance expense directly attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other 
finance costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.  

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Convertible Note - Interest expense 1,813,779 -  
Interest expense* 21,155,802 929,267 
Rehabilitation provision unwinding of discount 2,081,322 (213,007) 

25,050,903 716,260 

* The majority of the interest expense relate to the Taurus facility and New Hope facility as disclosed in note 23.

Note 12. Income tax expense 

Accounting Policy 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period comprises current income tax expense/income and deferred tax expense/ 
income. Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using applicable 
income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities/assets are therefore measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid to/recovered from the relevant taxation authority. Deferred income tax expense reflects 
movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the period as well unused tax losses. Current and 
deferred income tax expense/income is charged or credited directly to equity instead of profit or loss when the tax relates to 
items that are credited or charged directly to equity.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the full liability balance sheet approach and calculated at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at reporting date. Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have 
been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit 
or loss.  

Deferred tax assets relating to deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no adverse 
change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient future assessable 
income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 

The Company and its Australian 100% owned controlled entities have formed a tax consolidated Group and are taxed as a 
single entity. Bowen Coking Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. The separate taxpayer within a group 
approach has been used to allocate income tax expense to wholly owned subsidiaries that form part of the tax consolidated 
group. Bowen Coking Limited has assumed all the current tax liabilities and tax losses for the tax consolidated group via 
intercompany receivables and payables as a tax funding arrangement. 
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Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Income tax expense 
Current tax -  -  
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences -  -  

Aggregate income tax expense -  -  

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate 
Loss before income tax expense (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% (48,881,133) (5,490,724) 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
Share-based payments 540,226 649,443 
Share of profits - joint venture (297,749) -  
Non-deductible expenses 81,622 1,001,134 
Deductible equity raising costs - (279,600)
Current year tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 48,557,034 4,123,104
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses - (3,357)

Income tax expense -  -  

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Amounts charged directly to equity 
Deferred tax assets  -  -  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to: 
Employee benefits 231,208 40,745 
Provision for onerous contracts 4,936,200 -  
Other provisions and accrued expenses 2,727,405 21,966 
Tax losses - 7,478,878
Right of use liability 126,589 -  
Provision for rehabilitation 843,364 4,733,328 
Other deferred tax assets 2,688,070 959,975 

Gross deferred tax assets 11,552,836 13,234,892 

Set-off of deferred tax assets (11,552,836) (13,234,892) 

Net deferred tax assets - -  
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Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

(1,149,621) (4,412,242) 
(6,140,122) (4,825,976) 

(125,410) -  
(4,137,683) (3,973,560) 

BOWEN COKING COAL LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

30 JUNE 2023 

 

Note 12. Income tax expense (continued) 

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to: 
Exploration and evaluation and mine development assets 
Property, Plant & Equipment 
Right of Use Asset 
Convertible Note 
Other deferred tax liabilities - (23,114)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (11,552,836) (13,234,892) 

Set-off of deferred tax assets 11,552,836 13,234,892 

Gross deferred tax liabilities -  -  

Unused tax losses and temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following using corporate tax 
rates of: 
Tax Revenue Losses 55,494,097 9,198,043 
Tax Capital Losses 1,104,890 1,104,890 

Total Unrecognised deferred tax assets 56,598,987 10,302,933 

The corporate tax rates on both recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been 
calculated with respect to the tax rate that is expected to apply in the year the deferred tax asset is realised or the liability is 
settled. 

Key judgement 

Recovery of deferred tax assets  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the Group considers it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Note 13. Earnings per share 

Accounting Policy 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 
Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.  

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the loss after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



BOWEN COKING COAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
30 JUNE 2023 
 

Note 13. Earnings per share (continued) 
 

47 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Bowen Coking Coal Limited (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 

Number Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic loss per share 1,736,922,119 1,314,961,259 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted loss per share 1,736,922,119 1,314,961,259 

Cents Cents 

Basic loss per share (9.38) (1.39) 
Diluted loss per share (9.38) (1.39) 

98.5 million options and performance rights are considered potential ordinary shares. Options and performance rights issued 
are not presently dilutive and were not included in the determination of diluted loss per share for the period. 

Note 14. Cash and cash equivalents 

Accounting Policy 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of less than 3 months. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current assets 
Cash at bank 48,944,668 72,474,044 
Short term deposit - 46,007

48,944,668 72,520,051 

The short-term deposit reflected in the prior year was secured against the Group’s guarantee facilities in relation to premises 
the Group leases for its corporate office under an operating lease. In the current year the bank guarantee was replaced with 
a cash deposit held directly by the landlord. 
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Note 15. Trade and other receivables 

Accounting Policy 

Receivables are classified at initial recognition. The classification depends on the receivable’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. In order for a receivable to be classified and measured 
at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) on the principal 
amount outstanding. Trade receivables and other receivables that satisfy the SPPI test are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Except for trade receivables, the Group initially measures a receivable at its fair value plus 
transaction costs. Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price determined in accordance with the 
accounting policy for revenue. 

The Group recognises an allowance for estimated credit losses (ECLs) for all receivables. ECLs are based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. For receivables due in less than 12 months, 
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s 
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The expected credit loss is based on its historical credit loss experience in the past two 
years, current financial difficulties of the debtor and is adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtor and the 
economic environment.  

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, 
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by 
the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows 
and usually occurs when past due for more than one year and not subject to enforcement activity. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current assets 
Receivable from joint venture entity* 31,960,949 11,587,700 
Other receivables 1,869,079 -  
GST receivable 2,684,229 3,501,058 

36,514,257 15,088,758 

Non-current assets 
Receivable from joint venture entity - 255,000

* The Group’s trade receivables from sales of coal to customers is receivable from the Bowen Coking Coal Marketing Joint
Venture, in accordance with the marketing agreement.

Allowance for expected credit losses 
The Group assessed the expected credit losses in relation to trade and other receivables in the current and prior years to be 
immaterial and no allowance has been recorded.   

As at 30 June 2023 no allowance for estimated credit losses has been recognised as it is expected that all receivable amounts 
will be received in full when due. No impairment expense was recognised in relation to receivables for the 2023 and 2022 
financial years. Refer to note 30 on credit risk of trade receivables to understand how the Group manages the credit risk and 
measures credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired. 
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Note 16. Inventories 

Accounting Policy 

Coal inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV) on a ‘first in first out’ basis. The cost of coal 
inventories comprises direct cost (including blasting, overburden removal, coal mining, processing and transport costs), direct 
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity.  

Inventories are classified as follows: 

● Run-of-mine material (ROM) extracted through the mining process and available for next stage of processing, either on
mine or wash plant stockpile.

● Product coal stock which has been processed into final saleable form. Product coal may be held at site, in transit or at
port shared stockpile facilities awaiting delivery to customer.

NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current assets 
Run-of-mine (ROM) stockpiles (at mine) 16,260,193 1,744,908 
Run-of-mine (ROM) stockpiles (at wash plant) 6,979,716 805,384 
Coal product stockpiles 36,935,787 3,449,441 

Coal inventories 60,175,696 5,999,733 

Fuel on hand 309,474 -  

Total inventories 60,485,170 5,999,733 

During the year, $7.0 million (2022: $nil) was recognised as an expense for inventories carried at net realisable value. This 
is recognised in Net inventory movements. 

Total cost of sales for the year was $220.5 million (2022: $16.6 million), which are costs incurred directly relating to the 
mining and preparation of coal for sale to customers, and excludes all downstream, logistics and sales and marketing related 
costs as well as administration and overheads not directly related to production.  

Key estimates and assumptions 

Provision for impairment of inventories 
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of the 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience and forecast upcoming sales, estimated costs to 
complete production and bring the product to sale, the ageing of inventories and other factors that affect inventory 
obsolescence. 

Inventory stockpiles volumes are measured by appropriately qualified persons, applying surveying methodologies, which 
consider the size and grade of the coal stockpile. The estimated recovery percentage (yields) are based on the expected 
processing method. In addition, net realisable value tests are performed at each reporting date to ensure coal is valued at 
lower of cost and NRV. Judgment is applied in estimating the variables noted above. 
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Note 17. Other assets 

Accounting Policy 

Other current assets relate to operational costs paid in advance of the period to which the Group will receive the benefit from 
those goods or services, over the next twelve months.  

Non-current assets relate to cash and non-cash security bond payments made to key operational suppliers and for 
rehabilitation bonding required to be held with Queensland Treasury, which has a credit rating of AA+. 

Prepayments are recognised at cost. Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected 
credit losses. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current assets 
Prepayments 4,250,602 2,505,614 

Non-current assets 
Prepayments 8,735,186 -  
Rehabilitation bonds* 69,769,633 15,209,225 
Security deposits 6,807,876 3,107,500 
Other receivable 51,422 4,316,078 

85,364,117 22,632,803 

* The increase in the period relates primarily to the acquisition of the Burton mining assets and associated rehabilitation
bonding required to be held.

Allowance for expected credit losses 
The Group assessed the expected credit losses in relation to trade and other receivables in the current and prior years to be 
immaterial and no allowance has been recorded.   

Note 18. Property, plant and equipment 

Accounting Policy 

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items and in preparing the items for first use, such as 
installation and transportation cost. 

Depreciation is calculated using the below various methods that best represent their expected useful lives: 

Buildings and improvements 5 to 15 years 
Plant and equipment 3 to 15 years 
Mining assets Unit of production 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are recognised to profit or loss as incurred. 

Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset.  
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. 

The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms 
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as 
incurred.  

Mine development assets 
Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to “Mine development assets” once the technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of extracting the mineral resources supports the future development of the property and such development has been 
appropriately approved by management. Prior to transferring the exploration and evaluation assets to mine development 
assets, an impairment test is completed.  

Mine development assets represents the costs incurred in preparing mines for production and includes plant and equipment 
under construction incurred before production commences. These costs are capitalised to the extent they are expected to 
be recouped through the successful exploitation of the related mining leases. Once production commences, these costs are 
transferred to property, plant and equipment or mining assets, as relevant.  

Mining assets  
Once the development phase is complete and production starts, assets included in “Mine development assets” are 
transferred to “Mining assets”.  

Amortisation of mining asset, except land, is computed using the units of production method based on the estimated run-of-
mine ore included in the life of mine plan to which they relate. Land is not depreciated. 

The amortisation is calculated from recoverable proven and probable reserves and a predetermined percentage of the 
recoverable resource. This percentage is reviewed annually.  

Pre-strip costs 
In open pit mining operations, it is necessary to perform overburden and waste material extraction to first access the coal 
and establish mining operation. This process is referred to as stripping and the Group capitalises stripping costs incurred 
during the development phase of a mine (or pit) as part of the investment in constructing the mine (“pre-strip”). These costs 
are subsequently amortised over the run-of-mine coal included in the life of mine plan on a units of production basis.  

Post-production stripping costs 
After the commencement of production, further development of the mine may require a phase of unusually high stripping that 
is similar in nature to development phase stripping. The cost of such stripping is accounted for in the same way as 
development phase stripping (Pre-strip costs as outlined above). 

Production stripping generally results in the production of inventory and as such the production stripping costs are accounted 
for as part of the cost of producing those inventories and is charged to the profit and loss as operating costs as 
incurred. Where there are periods of production stripping that is unusually high and considered to result in improved access 
to coal to be mined, it is only recognised as a non-current “stripping activity asset” if the following criteria are met:  

● Future economic benefits (being improved access to the coal reserves) and probable
● The component of the coal reserves for which access will be improved can be accurately identified
● The costs associated with the improved access can be reliably measured

If any of the criteria are not met, the production stripping costs are charged to profit or loss as operating costs as they are 
incurred. If the criteria are satisfied, the stripping activity asset will be amortised on a units of production basis.  

Rehabilitation costs 
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the mining facility from when exploration commences and are capitalised 
only to extent there is future economic benefit to be recovered. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of 
mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of 
the exploration and mining permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal 
requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 
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Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted for on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site 
restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future 
legislation. 

Impairment of assets 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's 
recoverable amount using estimated future cash discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecasts, which are prepared separately for each asset, 
based on the life-of-mine plans. The estimated cash flows are based on expected future production, coal selling prices, 
operating costs and forecast capital expenditure, and cash flows beyond five years are based on life-of-mine plans.  

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment of inventories, are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying 
amount of the asset does not exceed either its recoverable amount, or the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as other income. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Non-current assets 
Buildings and improvements - at cost 13,391,815 -  
Less: Accumulated depreciation (677,440) -  

12,714,375 -  

Plant and equipment - at cost 48,122,145 329,653 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairments (2,549,593) (20,824) 

45,572,552 308,829 

Right of use assets - at cost 455,887 150,867 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (37,852) (75,227) 

418,035 75,640 

Mine development assets - at cost 79,883,850 20,862,235 

Mining assets - at cost 27,360,642 22,761,651 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairments (5,640,232) (559,003) 

21,720,410 22,202,648 

160,309,222 43,449,352 
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Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 

Buildings and 
improvements 

Plant and 
equipment 

Right of 
use asset 

Mine 
development 

assets* 
Mining 
assets* Total 

Consolidated $ $ $ $ $ $ 

At 1 July 2021 - 8,758 125,930 - - 134,688 
Additions - 320,120 - 17,204,761 - 17,524,881
Additions through asset acquisition - - - 15,518,395 - 15,518,395
Transfer from exploration & 
evaluation assets (note 20) 

- - - 5,629,681 - 5,629,681

Remeasurement of rehabilitation 
(note 25) 

- - - 5,271,048 - 5,271,048

Transfer from mine development 
assets 

- - - (22,761,650) 22,761,650 - 

Depreciation expense - (20,049) (50,290) - (559,002) (629,341) 

At 30 June 2022 - 308,829 75,640 20,862,235 22,202,648 43,449,352 
Additions 44,261 590,307 - 66,354,093 - 66,988,661
Additions through asset acquisition 
(note 22) 

- - - 22,481,544 - 22,481,544

New lease addition (note 24) - - 435,706 - - 435,706 
Transfer from exploration and 
evaluation assets to mine 
development assets (note 20) 

- - - 67,954,974 - 67,954,974

Remeasurement of rehabilitation 
(note 25) 

(340,417) (3,319,791) - (12,403,128) 7,016,654 (9,046,682) 

Transfer from mine development 
assets 

13,687,971 50,815,663 - (85,365,868) 20,862,234 - 

Depreciation expense (677,440) (2,604,423) (93,311) - (9,481,502) (12,856,676)
Impairment expense (note 8) - (218,033) - - (18,879,624) (19,097,657)

Balance at 30 June 2023 12,714,375 45,572,552 418,035 79,883,850 21,720,410 160,309,222 

* Mine development assets and mining assets have been reclassified during the period and are now included in property,
plant and equipment to better reflect the nature of these assets.

All property, plant and equipment are encumbered, as disclosed in note 23. 

The consolidated entity leases floorspace for its offices. On 29 March 2023 the Company entered a new lease agreement 
for its head office for a period of three years, with no option to extend. The lease agreement commences on 1 April 2023 
with lease payments monthly and a fixed annual increase of 4.00% included in the lease terms. 

Key judgement and estimates 

Recoverability of non-assets 
Impairment assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices (considering 
current and historical prices, price trends and related factors), discount rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, 
closure and rehabilitation costs, exploration potential, reserves and operating performance (which includes production and 
sales volumes). These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. Therefore, there is a possibility that 
changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of assets and/or cash 
generating units (CGUs). In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amount of the assets/CGUs may be further 
impaired or the impairment charge reduced with the impact recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (note 8). 
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Unit of production (UOP) depreciation 
Estimated economically recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation and/or amortisation of mine-specific 
assets. This results in a depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life-of-
mine production. The life of each item, which is assessed at least annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and 
present assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is located. These 
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of 
future capital expenditure. The calculation of the UOP rate of depreciation/amortisation could be impacted to the extent that 
actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on economically recoverable reserves, or 
if future capital expenditure estimates change. Changes to economically recoverable reserves could arise due to changes in 
the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves, including: 
  
● The effect on economically recoverable reserves of differences between actual commodity prices and commodity price 

assumptions. 
● Unforeseen operational issues. 
  
Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively. 
  
Right of use assets 
At the inception of a lease agreement, the group assesses whether a contract contains a lease based on whether the contract 
conveys the right to use or control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Determining 
whether there is a right to use or control requires significant judgement in particular assessment of substantive substitution 
rights.   
  

Note 19. Investments accounted for using the equity method 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Non-current assets   
Investments accounted for using the equity method 938,688  -   

  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Non-current liabilities   
Investment accounted for using the equity method -   53,810  

  
Refer to note 39 for further information on interests in joint ventures. 
  
Reconciliation 
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Opening carrying amount (53,810) (65,000) 
Profit after income tax 992,498  11,190  

   
Closing carrying amount 938,688  (53,810) 
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Note 20. Exploration and evaluation assets 
  
Accounting Policy 
  
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. Such 
expenditures comprise net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure but do not include 
overheads or administration expenditure not having a specific nexus with a particular area of interest. These costs are only 
carried forward as an asset to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the 
area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of 
economically recoverable reserves and active or significant operations in relation to the area are continuing. 
 
A regular review is undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs 
in relation to that area of interest. A provision is raised against exploration and evaluation assets where the directors are of 
the opinion that the carried forward net cost may not be recoverable or the right of tenure in the area lapses. The increase in 
the provision is charged against the results for the year. Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off 
in full against profit or loss in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.  
 
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent upon a number of factors, 
including whether the Group decides to develop the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related 
exploration and evaluation asset through sale.  
 
Factors that could impact future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future technological changes 
which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and 
changes to commodity prices.  
  
To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, the 
amounts are written off to profit and loss in the period in which the determination is made. When capitalised exploration and 
evaluation costs are transferred to mine development, it is assessed for impairment. 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Non-current assets   
Exploration and evaluation assets 10,989,468  10,250,911  
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Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  

 
Broadmeadow 

Project 
Hillalong 
Project 

Isaac River 
Project 

Burton 
Project 

Other 
Projects Total 

Consolidated $ $ $ $ $ $ 
       
Balance at 1 July 2021 3,158,727 1,732,160 2,589,780 - 5,167,523 12,648,190 
Additions 2,470,954 432,610 696,855 - 16,048 3,616,467 
Receipt for exploration costs from 
farmee 

- (384,065) - - - (384,065) 

Transfer from exploration and 
evaluation assets to mine 
development assets (note 18) 

(5,629,681) - - - - (5,629,681) 

       
Balance at 30 June 2022 - 1,780,705 3,286,635 - 5,183,571 10,250,911 
Additions - 1,373,404 228,077 - 64,629 1,666,110 
Additions through asset acquisition 
(note 22) 

- - - 67,954,974 - 67,954,974 

Transfer from exploration and 
evaluation assets to mine 
development assets (note 18) 

- - - (67,954,974) - (67,954,974) 

Receipt for exploration costs from 
farmee - 

(927,553) - - - (927,553) 

       
Balance at 30 June 2023 - 2,226,556 3,514,712 - 5,248,200 10,989,468 

  
Key judgement  
  
Exploration and evaluation  
Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised which includes determining expenditures directly related 
to these activities and allocating overheads between those that are expensed and capitalised. Factors that could impact the 
future commercial production at the mine include the level of reserves and resources, future technology changes, which 
could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes and changes in commodity prices. To the extent that capitalised costs 
are determined not to be recoverable in the future, they will be written off in the period in which this determination is made.  
 
The Group performs impairment testing on specific exploration assets as required in AASB 6 para. 20. During current and 
previous period no impairment indicator was noted. 
  

Note 21. Trade and other payables 
  
Accounting Policy 
  
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature, they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
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 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Current liabilities   
Trade payables 32,573,328  12,553,732  
Payable to joint venture partner 1,963,151  -   
Farm-in funds received in advance -   927,553  
State and private royalties payable 23,648,707  2,465,945  
Accrued expenses 61,212,326  15,729,542  
Other payables 1,233,691  194,520  

   
 120,631,203  31,871,292  

  
Refer to note 30 for further information on financial instruments. 
  

Note 22. Asset acquisition 
  
The Company acquired 100% of the shares in New Lenton Coal Pty Ltd (whose only significant asset is a 90% interest in 
the Lenton Joint Venture) on 1 July 2022. 
 
The assets in the Lenton joint venture include the Burton Mine and the New Lenton Project. The Burton Mine was under care 
and maintenance, with numerous assets in an inoperable state as at 1 July 2022. The assets requiring the highest cost to 
cure investment included the coal handling processing plant as well as a number of supporting mining infrastructure items 
including the haul road, train load-out facility and accommodation facilities. The New Lenton Project is still in the exploration 
phase, and there are significant plant and infrastructure assets held at the mine site. 
  
Classification as an asset acquisition 
  
The transaction has been reflected as an acquisition of assets and liabilities as of 1 July 2022 under accounting standards 
as the Lenton Joint Venture did not meet the definition of a business. The processes acquired were not considered 
substantive by management as: 
  
(i) the set of assets and activities transferred did not include an organised workforce critical to the ability to develop or 

convert the mine to production; 
(ii) there were no strategic management or operational processes in place in relation to production given the mine was in 

care and maintenance phase only; and the existing mine and areas of exploration required significant investment in 
order to restart production. 

  
Consideration and royalties payable 
  
Total consideration payable was as follows: 
  
● Cash consideration of $20.7 million, including completion adjustments; and 
● Up to $7.5 million in payments based on the achievement of production or time-based milestone payments, whichever 

occurs earlier. 
  
Transaction costs incurred in relation to the acquisition were $2.9 million. 
 
In addition there are royalties are payable (refer to note 34). 
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Cost of acquisition 

The cost of acquiring the assets and liabilities that were recognised for accounting purposes was determined as follows: 

Amount 
$ 

Cash consideration 20,738,000 
Deferred consideration* 6,271,623 
Transaction costs 2,965,769 

29,975,392 

* Based on fair value of expected future consideration - at 30 June 2023 the current portion of the liability was $2.5 million
and the non-current portion was $3.8 million.

The future royalty payments entered into as part of the transaction are excluded from the cost of the transaction and only 
recognised when they are incurred given they relate to variable payments based on future sales. 

During the year ended 30 June 2022, $1.0 million deposit and $224,334 transaction costs were paid and recorded as 
"increase in prepayment" in the statement of cash flows. During the year ended 30 June 2023, the balance of the 
transaction costs and the cash consideration paid totalling $22.5 million. 

Allocation of cost to assets and liabilities acquired 

The cost of acquisition was allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their related fair values 
at the date of purchase. An asset acquisition as distinct from a business combination does not give rise to goodwill under 
accounting standards. 

The assets acquired by way of the transaction comprise of the following: 

Amount 
$ 

Property, plant and equipment 22,481,544 
Mining information 1,958,174 
Mining tenements 65,996,800 
Rehabilitation provision (60,461,126) 

29,975,392 

Key Judgement and estimates 

Asset acquisition 
The fair value of assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the Group taking into 
consideration all available information at the reporting date. 
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Note 23. Interest bearing loans & borrowings 

Accounting Policy 

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

Compound financial instruments  
The initial carrying value of the host instruments is the residual amount after separating the derivate liability. The derivative 
liability component is initially recognised at fair value. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the host liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. The derivative component of a compound financial instrument is measured at fair 
value through profit and loss.  

Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss. On conversion at maturity, the financial liability is 
reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is recognised. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current liabilities 
Taurus facility 
- Loan at amortised cost 75,245,990 8,726,924 
Loan - New Hope facility 
- Loan at amortised cost 55,585,295 -  
Convertible Notes
- Host debt contract at amortised cost - 19,471,637
- Derivative liability (conversion rights) at fair value though profit and loss - 20,528,363

130,831,285 48,726,924 

Non-current liabilities 
Taurus facility 
- Loan at amortised cost - 5,817,949
Convertible Notes
- Host debt contract at amortised cost 21,285,416 -  
- Derivative liability (conversion rights) at fair value though profit and loss 6,736,088 -  

28,021,504 5,817,949 

Taurus Facility 
At 30 June 2023, $77.1 million (US$51.0 million) was drawn down on the Taurus facility and $1.9 million of transaction costs 
comprising establishment, corporate and legal advisory fees have been offset. 

The Taurus Mining Finance Fund No.2, L.P. (“Taurus facility”) is senior secured with an aggregate limit of US$55.0 million 
with the use of proceeds for capital expenditure, general working capital and expenses incurred in recommissioning the 
Burton CHPP, developing the Burton and Broadmeadow East projects and operating the Bluff Mine. The Taurus facility was 
structured as an amortisable term loan comprising five equal quarterly repayments over its term of 18 months. The first 
principal payment was made on 30 December 2022. The Taurus facility has a front-end fee of 2.00% of the facility limit and 
a coupon rate of 8.00% per annum, in addition the facility attracts a royalty of 0.25% of produced coal sales from the Burton 
complex and 1.00% of produced coal sales from the Bluff mine.  

On 30 March 2023, the Company and Taurus agreed to an amendment to the facility which deferred the March 2023 and 
June 2023 quarterly repayments of US$11.0 million each to 31 December 2023 and 31 March 2024, respectively. In addition 
to the repayment deferments, a further liquidity facility of US$7.0 million at a 10% per annum interest rate was provided, 
which the Group drew down in June 2023, bringing the total drawn balance on the Taurus facility to US$51.0 million (A$ 77.1 
million) at period end. As part of the facility amendment, the royalty payable to Taurus increased from 0.25% to 0.35% on 
sales of coal from the Burton complex.  
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Security over the debt facilities involve first ranking security over all assets. 
 
New Hope facility 
The Company entered into a new bilateral facility agreement with New Hope Corporation Limited (“New Hope facility”). The 
New Hope facility is secured on a second ranking basis to the Taurus facility. The New Hope facility has an aggregate limit 
of $70.0 million with funds drawn accreting by 8.00% per annum up to repayment as a redemption premium and a maximum 
term of 24 months. The New Hope facility has an interest rate of three-month BBSY plus an initial margin of 8.00% per annum 
for the first twelve months of the facility and 10.00% per annum for the remainder of its term, in each case payable quarterly 
or capitalised in certain circumstances.  
 
The New Hope facility was used to provide a bank guarantee for the Company’s share of the bond for the Lenton/Burton 
Mine rehabilitation cost under the Queensland financial provisioning regime of $61.6 million. 
 
On 23 June 2023, a replacement guarantee was issued by NHC for and on behalf of New Lenton Coal Pty Ltd (a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Bowen Coking Coal Limited), which effectively reduced the performance bonding facility by $13.7 million. 
The replacement guarantee resulted from a reduction to the ERC for Burton, following a review of the volumes of actual 
disturbance and updated cost estimations. 
 
At period end, the performance bonding facility had a balance of $55.6 million ($47.9 million principal and $7.7 million of 
capitalised interest).  
 
The Taurus and New Hope facilities contains warranties, indemnities and covenants (including cross default provisions) that 
are usual for a facility of this nature.  
 
Convertible Notes  
On 20 June 2022, the Company achieved financial close on a convertible note deed for the issuance of $40.0 million 
convertible loan notes (Convertible Notes) with the Crocodile Capital 1 Global Focus Fund and the Crocodile Capital Offshore 
Fund.  
 
The Convertible Notes are convertible into fully paid ordinary shares in Bowen Coking Coal Ltd and have a maturity of five 
years unless earlier redeemed or converted in accordance with their terms and conditions.  
 
The Convertible Notes have an interest rate of 3.00% per annum and an initial conversion price of A$0.325 per note. The 
Company has the ability to capitalise interest to the outstanding convertible loan note balance in lieu of cash at an interest 
rate of 4.00% per annum. Adjustments to the conversion price include an increase of $0.005 per share every six months 
commencing one year after financial close, a proportionate reduction should the Company issue shares at a lower price and 
other adjustments for dividends, capital reductions and other corporate actions. Additional adjustments to the conversion 
price exist if ordinary shares are issued by the Company at a price lower than the conversion price. There have been two 
such share issuances in October/November 2022 at $0.30 per share and in June / July 2023 at $0.17 per share (refer to 
note 26). Accordingly, the conversion price has been amended and is currently $0.300321 per conversion note.  
 
At the date of recognition of the convertible note, a derivative liability was recognised at fair value (refer to note 43). The fair 
value was determined utilising a Monte Carlo simulation which utilised Level 2 inputs. At 30 June 2023 the remeasurement 
of the fair value resulted in the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $13.7 million, included in finance income (refer note 
10). 
  

Note 24. Lease liability 
  
Accounting Policy 
  
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed 
payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably 
certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or 
a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.  
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Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 
if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 
is fully written down. 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Current liabilities   
Lease liability 141,062  53,596  

   
Non-current liabilities   
Lease liability 280,902  29,201  

  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
Reconciliation of movements $ $ 
   
Opening balance 82,797  129,535  
New lease addition 435,706  -   
Interest expense 10,161  8,702  
Profit on disposal of lease (3,137) -   
Repayments (103,563) (55,440) 

   
 421,964  82,797  

  
Refer note 30 for further information on Financial Instruments. 
  
Key Judgement 
  
Lease liability 
At the inception of a lease agreement, the group assesses whether a contract contains a lease based on whether the contract 
conveys the right to use or control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Determining 
whether there is a right to use or control requires significant judgement in particular assessment of substantive substitution 
rights. 
  

Note 25. Provisions 
  
Accounting Policy 
  
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  
 
Employee Benefits  
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations:  
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period in respect of employees’ services rendered up to the end of the reporting period and are measured 
at amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  
 
Other long-term employee benefits:  
 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
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the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.  

Defined contribution superannuation expense:  

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Rehabilitation Provisions  

Rehabilitation costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal 
and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with the requirements of the mining permits.  

The rehabilitation provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to mine sites, which are expected to 
be incurred up to when the producing mine properties are expected to cease operations. These provisions have been created 
based on the Group’s internal estimates. Assumptions based on the current economic environment have been made, which 
management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These estimates are reviewed 
regularly to take into account any material changes to the assumptions because of changes in laws and regulations, public 
expectations, prices, discovery and analysis of site conditions and changes in technology to restore the mine sites. However, 
actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary rehabilitation works required 
that will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation is likely to depend on when 
the mines cease to produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, will depend upon future coal prices, which are 
inherently uncertain.  

Additions through remeasurements of the rehabilitation is included in the cost of the related asset and amortised over the life 
of the project using the estimated unit of production method and the rehabilitation provision is accreted periodically as the 
discounting of the liability unwinds. The unwinding of the discount is recorded as a finance cost. Changes in estimates to the 
rehabilitation cost and discount rate is accounted for prospectively. 

The discount rate used in the calculation of the provision at 30 June 2023 equalled 4.03% (2022: 2.73%). 

Provision for onerous contracts 

If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract is recognised and measured as a 
provision. However, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is established, the Group recognises any impairment 
loss that has occurred on assets dedicated to that contract. 

An onerous contract is a contract under which the unavoidable costs (i.e., the costs that the Group cannot avoid because it 
has the contract) of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under 
it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost 
of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the 
costs that relate directly to the contract (i.e., both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract 
activities). 
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Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current liabilities 
Employee leave entitlements 664,397 135,818 
Rehabilitation provision 2,941,318 -  
Provision for onerous contracts 16,454,000 -  

20,059,715 135,818 

Non-current liabilities 
Long service leave 106,295 -  
Rehabilitation provision 66,332,210 15,777,762 

66,438,505 15,777,762 

Rehabilitation provision 
Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 

30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
Rehabilitation provision $ $ 

Carrying amount at the start of the year 15,777,762 201,324 
Additions through asset acquisition (note 22) 60,461,126 10,518,397 
(Reductions)/Additions through remeasurement of rehabilitation (note 18) (9,046,681) 5,271,048 
Unwinding of discount (note 11) 2,081,322 (213,007) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 69,273,529 15,777,762 

Key estimates and assumptions 

Rehabilitation provision 
The ultimate rehabilitation costs are uncertain, and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including estimates 
of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases as compared 
to the inflation rates, and changes in discount rates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from 
the amounts currently provided. Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision for 
mine rehabilitation. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the provisions established which would affect future 
financial result. The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future 
rehabilitation costs required. 

Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave which is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Note 26. Issued capital 

Accounting Policy 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs (net of tax where the deduction can be utilised) arising on the 
issue of ordinary shares are recognised in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received. 
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 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 Shares Shares $ $ 
     
Ordinary shares - fully paid 2,110,496,831 1,542,124,952 261,285,098  134,113,511  

  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details Date Shares Issue price $ 
     
Balance 1 Jul 2021 978,462,262  63,917,409 
Exercise of options 4 Aug 2021 2,100,000 $0.07  147,000 
Exercise of options 4 Aug 2021 600,000 $0.08  48,000 
Placement 10 Aug 2021 149,253,731 $0.07  10,000,000 
Rights Issue 30 Aug 2021 81,763,969 $0.07  5,478,186 
Placement 18 Nov 2021 68,750,000 $0.02  11,000,000 
Issue of Bluff consideration shares 29 Dec 2021 27,941,177 $0.17  4,750,000 
Performance rights conversion 29 Dec 2021 4,000,000 $0.05  200,000 
Placement 24 Feb 2022 207,353,813 $0.20  41,470,762 
Exercise of options 25 May 2022 21,000,000 $0.10  2,100,000 
Exercise of options 25 May 2022 700,000 $0.80  54,740 
Performance rights conversion 30 Jun 2022 200,000 $0.31  61,000 
Transaction costs associated with share 
issues    (5,113,586) 

     
Balance 30 Jun 2022 1,542,124,952  134,113,511 
Issue of employee shares 5 Jul 2022 948,560 $0.23  218,168 
Performance rights conversion 9 Aug 2022 4,000,000 $0.08  332,000 
Performance rights conversion 5 Sep 2022 450,000 $0.31  137,250 
Placement 27 Oct 2022 253,547,544 $0.30  76,064,263 
Placement 30 Nov 2022 29,785,790 $0.30  8,935,737 
Performance rights conversion 11 Jan 2023 4,000,000 $0.05  200,000 
Exercise of options 16 Feb 2023 5,821,000 $0.10  582,100 
Performance rights conversion 13 Apr 2023 425,000 $0.35  129,625 
Performance rights conversion 13 Apr 2023 600,484 $0.27  162,131 
Performance rights conversion 3 May 2023 109,337 $0.27  29,521 
Performance rights conversion 17 May 2023 55,536 $0.27  14,995 
Placement 13 Jun 2023 209,805,071 $0.17  35,666,856 
Share purchase plan 28 Jun 2023 5,804,557 $0.17  986,775 
Share purchase plan 30 Jun 2023 53,019,000 $0.17  9,013,230 
Transaction costs associated with share 
issues    (5,301,064) 

     
Balance 30 June 2023 2,110,496,831  261,285,098 

  
Movements in Unlisted Options 
  

Details Date Options Issue price 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
 $ 

     
Balance 1 Jul 2022 43,000,000  9,374,000 
Option Exercised 16 Feb 2023 (5,821,000) $0.08  (499,111) 

     
Balance 30 June 2023 37,179,000  8,874,889 
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Movements in Performance Rights 

Details Date Shares Issue price 

Balance 1 Jul 2022 13,300,000 
Issued 5 Jul 2022 2,165,913 $nil 
Converted 9 Aug 2022 (4,000,000) $nil 
Converted 5 Sep 2022 (450,000) $nil 
Issued 11 Nov 2022 765,357 $nil 
Converted 11 Jan 2023 (4,000,000) $nil 
Issued 27 Feb 2023 15,000,000 $nil 
Converted 13 Apr 2023 (425,000) $nil 
Converted 13 Apr 2023 (600,484) $nil 
Converted 3 May 2023 (109,337) $nil 
Converted 17 May 2023 (55,536) $nil 

Balance 30 June 2023 21,590,913 

Refer note 9: Share based payments for more details on Options and Performance Rights. 

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting in person or by 
proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands or by poll. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value. 

Capital Management 
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, interest bearing loans and borrowings 
and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital 
management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximise the shareholder’s value. 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets 
financial covenants attached to its interest-bearing loans and borrowings that form part of its capital structure requirements. 
Breaches in the financial covenants would permit the lender to immediately call interest bearing loans and borrowings. There 
have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest bearing loans and borrowings in the current or prior period. 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants.  

There have been no changes to the capital management policies during the year. 

Note 27. Reserves 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Share-based payment reserve 4,726,236 4,149,174 
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Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current financial year are set out below: 

Consolidated $ 

Balance at 1 July 2022 4,149,174 
Share-based payment 1,800,752 
Conversion of performance shares (1,223,690) 

Balance at 30 June 2023 4,726,236 

The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options and performance shares issued to directors, 
employees and consultants. This reserve can be reclassified as retained earnings if options lapse or performance hurdles 
attached to the performance rights are not achieved. 

Note 28. Accumulated losses 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (68,026,815) (49,724,401) 
Loss after income tax expense for the year (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (230,963,924) (68,026,815) 

Note 29. Dividends 

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

Note 30. Financial instruments 

Financial Risk Management Policies 

The Group’s financial instruments comprises cash balances, receivables and payables, loans and convertible notes. The 
main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for Group operations. 

Treasury Risk Management 

Key executives of the Group meet on a regular basis to analyse exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies 
in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts.  

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. Management is responsible for developing and monitoring the risk management policies and reports to the board. 

Financial Risks 

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk and equity risk. These risks are managed through monitoring of forecast cash flows, interest rates, economic 
conditions and ensuring adequate funds are available. 
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Market risk 

Foreign currency risk 
The Australian dollar is the functional currency of the Group and as a result, currency exposure arises from transactions and 
balances in currencies other than Australian dollar.  

The Group potential currency exposure comprise: 

● Coal sales are denominated in United States (US) dollar. The Group is therefore exposed to volatility in the US$:A$
exchange rates. The Group generally aligns all coking coal prices to relevant coking coal indexes. The Group has not 
used any derivative products to mitigate fluctuations in the relevant coal price indexes or US$:A$ exchange rates.

● The Group has fully drawn down on its US$51.0 million finance facility with Taurus. As noted above, the Group’s coal
sales are denominated in US$, which provides a natural economic hedge in relation to adverse foreign currency
movements that affect the drawn down facility position and the current policy is not to hedge foreign exchange risk.

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting 
date were as follows: 

Assets Liabilities 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

Consolidated A$ A$ A$ A$ 

US dollars denominated - - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,511,461 19,141,150 - - 
Trade and other receivable 32,940,999 11,587,700 - - 
Trade and other payables - - (528,360) - 
Loans - Taurus facilities - - (77,109,162) (20,207,253) 

34,452,460 30,728,850 (77,637,522) (20,207,253) 

The Group had net liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of US$28.3 million (assets of US$23.1 million less liabilities 
of US$51.3 million as at 30 June 2023 (2022: US$7.7 million (assets of US$21.7 million less liabilities of US$14.0 million). 
Based on this exposure, had the Australian dollars weakened by 5%/strengthened by 5% (2022: weakened by 
10%/strengthened by 10%) against these foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before 
tax for the year would have been A$2.3 million lower/A$2.1 million higher (2023: A$1.2 million lower/A$981,054 higher) and 
equity would have been A$1.6 million lower/A$ 1.4 million higher (2022: A$397,585 lower/A$686,738 higher). The percentage 
change is the expected overall volatility of the significant currencies, which is based on management's assessment of 
reasonable possible fluctuations taking into consideration movements over the last 3 months each year and the spot rate at 
each reporting date. The foreign exchange gain for the year ended 30 June 2023 was A$509,787 (2022: A$1,407). 

Price risk 
The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk is predominantly changes in coal prices, which impacts the royalty expense 
on the Taurus debt facility. Coal prices are driven by various factors, including but not limited to, changes in seaborne supply, 
geopolitical economic activity, commodity substitution, international demand and contract sales negotiations. Currently, the 
Group does not hedge against coal price volatility. 

Interest rate risk 
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s cash flows or fair value will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market interest rates, arises in relation to the Group’s bank balances, debt facilities and the derivative 
liability (conversion rights). The risk of fluctuation in interest rates on bank balances and New Hope facility is managed 
through the use of variable interest rate while the interest rate risk on the Taurus debt facility and Convertible Note are 
managed through the interest rate on these facilities being fixed. 
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Basis points increase Basis points decrease 

Consolidated - 30 June 2023 
Basis points 

change 

Effect on 
profit before 

tax 
Effect on 

equity 
Basis points 

change 

Effect on 
profit before 

tax 
Effect on 

equity 

Australian Dollar-denominated 
cash balances 200 905,770 634,039 200 (905,770) (634,039) 
US Dollar-denominated cash 
balances 200 30,229 21,160 200 (30,229) (21,160) 
Australian Dollar-denominated 
loan balances 200 (1,246,427) (872,499) 200 1,246,427 872,499 

(310,428) (217,300) 310,428 217,300 

Basis points increase Basis points decrease 

Consolidated - 30 June 2022 
Basis points 

change 

Effect on 
profit before 

tax 
Effect on 

equity 
Basis points 

change 

Effect on 
profit before 

tax 
Effect on 

equity 

Australian Dollar-denominated 
cash balances 200 1,062,378 743,665 200 (1,062,378) (743,665) 
US Dollar-denominated cash 
balances 200 388,223 271,756 200 (388,223) (271,756) 

1,450,601 1,015,421 (1,450,601) (1,015,421) 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading 
to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its 
financing activities, including deposits with banks, Queensland Government Authorities and financial institutions, foreign 
exchange transactions and other financial instruments and sale of coal to customers. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised 
financial assets, is their carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement 
of financial position and notes to the financial statements.  

Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by key executives. The key executives monitor credit risk by actively assessing 
the rating quality and liquidity of counter parties: 

● only banks, financial institutions and Queensland Government Authorities with an ‘A’ rating are utilised for banking 
transactions and financial surety for rehabilitation;

● sales to customers are governed by trade finance instruments such as letters of credit and on open credit to creditworthy
customers, and

● all other entities are rated for credit worthiness taking into account their size, market position and financial standing.

The below table summarises the assets which are subject to credit risk: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 48,944,668 72,520,051 
Trade and other receivables 36,514,257 15,088,758 
Security deposit 76,577,509 18,316,725 
Loans to related parties - 255,000

162,036,434 106,180,534 
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Trade and other receivables 
Customer credit risk is managed by Marketing Co subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating 
to customer credit risk management. The Group trades only with recognised creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy 
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures, Sales transactions are 
secured by letters of credit when deemed appropriate. Individual credit limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. 
In addition, outstanding receivable balances are regularly monitored on an ongoing basis, with the result that the Group’s 
exposure to credit-impaired balances and bad debts is not considered to be a significant risk. 

At 30 June 2023, the Group had two customers (2022: one customer) that each owed the Group more than US$10.0 million 
and accounted for approximately 71% (2022: 100%) of all receivables owing. 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The 
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by 
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit 
insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able meet its financial obligations as they fall due. This risk is managed by 
ensuring, to the extent possible, that there is sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.  

The Group’s activities are funded from cash flow generated from operations as well as from capital raise proceeds and debt 
facilities for project financing and capital investment. Refer to note 23 for information on borrowings. 

Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual 
maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 30 June 2023 % $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-derivatives 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables - 120,631,203 - - - 120,631,203 
Deferred consideration 9.60% 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 7,500,000

Interest bearing - fixed rate 
Lease liability - 141,062 163,163 127,490 - 431,715
Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings - 130,831,285 - - 38,506,104 169,337,389 

Total non-derivatives 254,103,550 2,663,163 2,627,490 38,506,104 297,900,307 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
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Equity price risk 

Equity price risk is the risk of changes in fair value due to changes in the share prices. 

The Convertible Notes are convertible into fully ordinary paid shares in Bowen Coking Coal Ltd at maturity date (20 June 
2027) or earlier if redeemed or converted in accordance with their terms and conditions, and may be for a higher number of 
shares issued than originally anticipated, due to various actions undertaken by the Group which impact the Convertible 
Note’s conversion price. Refer to note 23 for information on borrowings. 

Fair value of financial instruments 
At 30 June 2023 the carrying value of financial instruments approximated the fair values of financial assets and liabilities.  
This is on the basis that the effective interest rates are considered to approximate a market rate for these instruments. 

Note 31. Key management personnel disclosures 

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Bowen Coking Coal Limited during the financial year: 

Nicholas Jorss  
Gerhard Redelinghuys 
Matthew Latimore  
Neville Sneddon  
David Conry  
Stephen Downs  

Resigned 23 August 2023 
Resigned 25 July 2023 

Appointed 23 June 2023 
Appointed 4 November 2022 and resigned 25 July 2023 

Other key management personnel 
The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of 
the Group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year: 

Mark Ruston Chief Executive Officer 
Daryl Edwards Chief Financial Officer  

Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out 
below: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,854,406 1,048,200 
Long-term benefits 204,480 58,153  
Post-employment benefits 101,885 66,624 
Share-based payments 842,179 1,709,329 

3,002,950 2,882,306 

Refer to note 36 for other transactions with key management personnel. The comparative information was updated to align 
the disclosure with current year's presentation. 
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Note 32. Remuneration of auditors 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Ernst & Young, the auditor of the 
Company, and its network firms as well as to RSM Australia Partners, the Company’s prior auditors: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Audit services - Ernst & Young 
Amount paid/payable for audit and review of the financial statements 195,000 -  

Audit services - RSM Australia Partners 
Amount paid/payable for audit and review of the financial statements 49,745 99,000 

Other services - RSM Australia Partners 
Amount paid/payable for preparation and lodgement of QLD stamp duty 34,932 15,000 
Amount paid/payable for Long Service Leave Audit 5,932 -  
Amount paid/payable for file review 2,100 -  

42,964 15,000 

92,709 114,000 

Note 33. Contingent assets 

There were no contingent assets as at 30 June 2023. 

Note 34. Contingent liabilities 

Broadmeadow East Project (ML 70257) 
The Company completed the acquisition of the Broadmeadow East Project (ML 70257) from Peabody (Burton Coal) Pty Ltd 
in 2020. The consideration payable for the acquisition included a contingent item being a royalty arrangement of $1/tonne 
which is payable on all coal produced and sold from ML 70257, capped at a maximum of 1.5Mt, being $1.5m and not 
applicable to the first 500,000 tonnes produced and sold.  

Bluff PCI Coal Project (ML 80194, EPC 1175, EPC 1999) 
The Company acquired the Bluff PCI Coal Project from MACA Ltd (who were the appointed receivers for Carabella 
Resources Pty Ltd) in 2021. The acquisition comprised the Bluff Coal mine (ML 80194) and coal exploration permits EPC 
1175 and EPC 1999. The consideration payable for the acquisition included the following contingent consideration items:   

Base Royalty payable: if Benchmark price for the quarter is more than USD$120/tonne, the royalty applicable is $2/tonne on 
all coal produced and sold from ML 80194, EPC 1175 and EPC 1999, subject to a maximum amount payable of $10.0 million; 
Super Royalty payable: if Benchmark price for the quarter is more than USD$150/tonne, the uncapped royalty is $5/tonne 
on all coal produced and sold from ML 80194, EPC 1175 and EPC 1999, and if benchmark price for the quarter is more than 
USD$200, the uncapped royalty is $10/tonne.  

One the 6 July 2023 the Group, MACA Ltd and Nolec TC Pty Ltd as trustee for the Carbon Royalty Trust No. 2 signed a 
Deed of Novation - Royalty Deed, as a result the royalty above will be paid to Nolec TC Pty Ltd going forward. 
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New Lenton Coal Pty Ltd (which owns a 90% interest in the Lenton Joint Venture) 
As part of the Company’s acquisition of 100% of the shares in New Lenton Coal Pty Ltd from New Hope Corporation Limited 
in July 2022 (refer to note 22), consideration payable included a contingent item being payment of royalties as follows: 
  
● A non-indexed royalty of 90% of coal sold (expressed in metric tonnes) by or on behalf of the Lenton Joint 

Venture multiplied by a royalty rate of A$0.55 per metric tonne, capped at A$16.0 million; 
● Average Price Royalty; A non-indexed royalty of 90% of coal sold (expressed in metric tonnes) by or on behalf of the 

Lenton Joint Venture multiplied by a royalty rate of A$0.00 per metric tonne where the Benchmark Price is equal to or 
less than USD$160 per metric tonne or multiplied by a royalty rate of A$1.65 per metric tonne where the Benchmark 
Price is more than USD$160 per metric tonne, capped at A$24.0 million; and 

● High Price Royalty; A non-indexed royalty of 90% of coal sold (expressed in metric tonnes) by or on behalf of the Lenton 
Joint Venture multiplied by a royalty rate of A$0.00 per metric tonne where the Benchmark Price is equal to or less than 
USD$190 per metric tonne or multiplied by a royalty rate of A$3.30 per metric tonne where the Benchmark Price is more 
than USD$190 per metric tonne, capped at A$30.0 million.  

  
Consistent with the Group’s accounting policy, contingent, production-based royalties are not recorded as part of the 
consideration in an asset acquisition, rather they are recognised as an expense in the period of the obligating event i.e. Sale 
of produced coal occurs. 
  
There were no other contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period. 
  

Note 35. Commitments 
  
Exploration Commitments 
The Group has certain obligations to expend minimum amounts on exploration in tenement areas. These obligations may be 
varied from time to time and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations of the Group. The following 
commitments exist at balance date but have not been brought to account. If the relevant option to acquire a mineral tenement 
is relinquished the expenditure commitment also ceases. The Group has the option to negotiate new terms or relinquish the 
tenements and also to meet expenditure requirements by joint venture or farm-in arrangements. 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:   
Within one year 502,000  362,106  
One to five years 780,500  862,500  
More than five years -   25,000  

   
 1,282,500  1,249,606  

  
Capital Commitments  
At 30 June 2023 the Group had $5.7 million in capital purchase commitments. 
  

Note 36. Related party transactions 
  
Parent entity 
Bowen Coking Coal Limited is the parent entity. 
  
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 38. 
  
Joint ventures 
Interests in joint ventures are set out in note 39. 
  
Joint operations 
Interests in joint operations are set out in note 40. 
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Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 31. 

Transactions with related parties 
Bowen Coking Coal Ltd and Marmilu Pty Ltd, and entity controlled by Matthew Latimore formed a 50/50 joint venture via 
Bowen Coking Coal Marketing Pty Ltd. 

Matthew Latimore is the sole Director and owner of M Resources Trading Pty Ltd which is exclusively contracted to provide 
marketing and logistics services to the Group via the Bowen Coking Coal Marketing joint venture. During the year Bowen 
Coking Coal Marketing joint venture paid a marketing fee to M Resources Trading Pty Ltd based on 0.75% of the sales of 
coal. 

Bowen Coking Coal Marketing joint venture charges the Group a 1.75% marketing fee on sales of produced coal. 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Payment for goods and services: 
Marketing fee paid and payable to joint venture 4,091,630 249,648 
Marketing fee paid and payable to M Resources Trading Pty Ltd* 760,862 53,496 

Total expenses 4,852,492 303,144 

* These expenses related to the 50% of the fees paid by the Group.

Receivable from and payable to related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current receivables: 
Trade receivables from joint venture 31,960,949 11,587,700 

Consolidated 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Current payables: 
Trade payables to joint venture 528,360 -  
Trade payables to M Resources Trading Pty Ltd 68,402 -  
Accrued marketing fees payable to joint venture 565,280 249,648 

1,162,042 249,648 

Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current reporting date. 

At the end of the previous reporting date there was a loan of $255,000 to the Bowen Coking Coal Marketing joint venture, 
which was fully repaid in the current period. 
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Terms and conditions 
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the yearend are unsecured and interest-free and settlements occurs in cash and are 
presented as part of trade receivable and trade payables as appropriate. They have been no guarantees provided or received 
from any related party receivable or payables. An assessment of the expect credit losses relating to related party receivables 
is undertaken upon initial recognition and each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operate applying the general approach of the ECL impairment models of IFRS 9. 

Note 37. Parent entity information 

The following information relates to the parent entity, Bowen Coking Coal Ltd at 30 June 2023. This information has been 
prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in note 1.  

The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, 
except as follows: 

● Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are accounted for at cost less any impairment.

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

Parent 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Loss after income tax (173,666,574) (8,646,339) 

Total comprehensive loss (173,666,574) (8,646,339) 

Statement of financial position 

Parent 
30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

$ $ 

Total current assets 23,960,994 66,629,105 

Total assets 195,673,449 140,712,063 

Total current liabilities 132,511,720 45,405,405 

Total liabilities 160,912,600 60,033,290 

Equity 
Issued capital 261,285,098 134,113,511 
Share-based payment reserve 4,726,235 4,149,174 
Accumulated losses (231,250,484) (57,583,912) 

Total equity 34,760,849 80,678,773 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 
The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 

Contingent liabilities 
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities, other than the transactions described in note 34. 
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Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment, other than the transactions described in 
note 35. 

The Company and its Australian controlled entities have formed a tax consolidated Group as at the date of this report. 

Note 38. Interests in subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1: 

Ownership interest 
Principal place of business / 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

Name Country of incorporation % % 

Bowen PCI Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00% 
Coking Coal One Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00% 
New Lenton Coal Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% - 
Lenton Management and Marketing Pty Ltd Australia 90.00% - 
Cabral Metais Ltd (dormant) Brazil 100.00% 100.00% 

Note 39. Interests in joint ventures 

Accounting Policy 

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated 
balance sheet.  

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements 
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from 
associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including 
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the other entity.  

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.  

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the Group’s policy. 

On 23 March 2020 the Company entered into an Umbrella Deed with M Resources Trading Pty Ltd, Latimore Family Pty Ltd 
and Latimore Finance Pty Ltd (Latimore Parties) which sets out the terms of a 50/50 joint venture arrangement between the 
Company and the Latimore Parties. 

In accordance with the Umbrella Deed the parties have registered Bowen Coking Coal Marketing Pty Ltd (Marketing Co) as 
a joint venture coal marketing vehicle, of which the Company and Marmilu Pty Ltd are shareholders in equal proportion. 
Marketing Co. will market, promote and sell, all coal produced by and from any of the Company’s existing wholly owned 
portfolio as well as third party coal for blending purposes. M Resources Trading Pty Ltd will provide marketing support 
services to Marketing Co. 
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Information relating to joint ventures that are material to the Group are set out below: 

Ownership interest 
Principal place of business / 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

Name Country of incorporation % % 

Bowen Coking Coal Marketing Pty Ltd Australia 50.00% 50.00% 

Summarised financial information 

30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
$ $ 

Summarised statement of financial position 
Cash and cash equivalents 565,674 - 
Trade and other receivables 33,571,832 14,265,609 

Total assets 34,137,506 14,265,609 

Trade and other payables, including tax liabilities 32,260,136 14,118,229 
Other current liabilities - 255,000

Total liabilities 32,260,136 14,373,229 

Net assets/(liabilities) 1,877,370 (107,620) 

Reconciliation of the Group's carrying amount 
Group's share in equity - 50% 938,688 (53,810) 

Group's carrying amount of the investment (note 19) 938,688 (53,810) 

30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income $ $ 

Revenue 4,002,708 249,648 
Operating expense (1,521,724) (226,992) 
Other expenses (55,165) (276) 

Profit before income tax 2,425,819 22,380 

Income tax expense (440,823) -  

Profit after income tax expense for the year 1,984,996 22,380 

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,984,996 22,380 

Group's share of the profit for the year (note 19) 992,498 11,190 

Contingent liabilities 
There are no significant contingent liabilities. 

Commitments 
There are no significant commitments. 

Significant restrictions 
There are no significant restrictions. 
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Distributions 
The joint venture must, unless the Board determine otherwise, pay a dividend every financial year out of the funds of the 
funds of the joint venture available for distribution under the Corporation Act, less certain allowances, having regard to 
prudent financial management and relevant taxation considerations. 

Note 40. Interests in joint operations 

The Group has recognised its share of jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations. These have 
been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate classifications. Information relating to joint operations 
that are material to the Group are set out below: 

Ownership interest 
Principal place of business / 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 

Name Country of incorporation % % 

Hillalong Joint Venture (un-incorporated) Australia 85.00% 85.00% 
New Lenton Joint Venture (un-incorporated) Australia 90.00% - 

Note 41. Operating segments 

Accounting Policy 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors.  

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the chief 
operating decision makers in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.  

Identification of reportable operating segments 

The Group operates in one geographical location being Australia and its operations are organised into two business units 
from which the Group’s expenses are incurred and revenues are earned, being for the exploration and development of coal 
and mining and sale of coal, which align to the table below. 

The non-current assets included in the exploration and development of coal are associated with coal projects located in 
Queensland, Australia. All corporate (unallocated) expenditure, assets and liabilities relate to incidental operations carried 
out in Australia. Liabilities included within Corporate are the Group's borrowings. 

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s-length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third 
parties. 

Major customers 
The following table summarizes any customer to whom it sells export coal whose revenue individually represented 10% or 
more of the Group’s total revenue in the years ended 30 June 2023: 

The following table presents revenues as a percent of total revenue from external customers by geographic region: 
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, 100% of the Group's coal sales revenue was derived from a single sale of coal, with 
only the Bluff mine in operation at that time. 

Operating segment information 

Mining and 
sale of coal 

Exploration 
and 

development 
of coal 

Corporate 
(Unallocated) Total 

As at - 30 June 2023 $ $ $ $ 

Revenue 
-from contracts with customers 204,475,121 - - 204,475,121 
Other income 5,461,456 - 3,136 5,464,592 

Total Revenue 209,936,577 - 3,136 209,939,713

Expenses 
Employee benefits expense (632,131) (2,618,624) (4,721,677) (7,972,432) 
Operating expenses (286,044,873) - - (286,044,873) 
Other expenses (10,523,120) (22,532,529) (4,986,604) (38,042,253) 
Net inventory movements 54,175,963 - - 54,175,963 
Foreign exchange gains 3,059,987 - (2,558,162) 501,825 
Depreciation and amortisation expense (9,542,472) (3,196,386) (117,818) (12,856,676) 
Impairment expense (19,097,657) - - (19,097,657) 
Onerous contract expense (16,454,000) - - (16,454,000) 
Royalties expense (35,142,157) - - (35,142,157) 
Share-based payments - - (1,800,752) (1,800,752) 
Finance income 240 3,010 13,911,345 13,914,595 
Finance expense (628,471) (1,725,007) (22,697,425) (25,050,903) 
Share of profit from joint ventures 992,498 - - 992,498 

Loss before income tax expense (109,899,616) (30,069,536) (22,967,957) (162,937,109) 

Income tax expense - - - - 

Loss after income tax expense for the year (109,899,616) (30,069,536) (22,967,957) (162,937,109) 

For the period ended 30 June 2023 
Property, plant and equipment 21,729,070 138,049,313 530,839 160,309,222 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 938,688 - - 938,688 
Exploration and evaluation assets - 10,898,468 - 10,898,468
Other assets 81,359,140 4,004,977 - 85,364,117

Total non-current assets 104,026,898 152,952,758 530,839 257,510,495 

Total assets 205,405,677 175,750,330 26,640,185 407,796,192 
Total liabilities (125,863,930) (131,225,946) (115,658,906) (372,748,782) 
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Mining and 
sale of coal 

Exploration 
and 

development 
of coal 

Corporate 
(Unallocated) Total 

As at - 30 June 2022 $ $ $ $ 

Revenue 
-from contracts with customers 11,862,313 - - 11,862,313 
Total revenue 11,862,313 - - 11,862,313 

Expenses 
Employee benefits expense - - (1,311,427) (1,311,427) 
Operating expenses (24,000,041) - - (24,000,041) 
Administration expenses (377,102) (365,002) (4,416,376) (5,158,480) 
Net inventory movements 5,999,733 - - 5,999,733 
Depreciation and amortisation expense (575,179) - (54,162) (629,341) 
Royalties expense (2,200,798) - - (2,200,798) 
Share-based payments - - (2,164,809) (2,164,809) 
Finance income - - 5,506 5,506 
Finance expense - - (716,260) (716,260) 
Share of profit from joint ventures 11,190 - - 11,190 

Loss before income tax expense (9,279,884) (365,002) (8,657,528) (18,302,414) 

Income tax expense - - - - 

Loss after income tax expense (9,279,884) (365,002) (8,657,528) (18,302,414) 

For the period ended 30 June 2022 

Trade and other receivables - - 255,000 255,000 
Property, plant and equipment 22,480,159 20,862,234 106,959 43,449,352 
Exploration and evaluation assets - 10,250,911 - 10,250,911
Other assets 13,043,775 5,272,950 3,216,078 21,532,803

Total non-current assts 35,523,934 36,386,095 3,578,037 75,488,066 

Total assets 63,956,565 37,438,516 71,307,141 172,702,222 
Total liabilities (30,058,902) (15,394,165) (57,013,285) (102,466,352) 

Note 42. Events after the reporting period 

10% Sale of BME mine to Formosa 

On 11 July 2023, the Company announced the sale by Coking Coal One Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of Bowen Coking 
Coal Limited) of a 10% interest in the Broadmeadow East Mine to MPC Lenton Pty Ltd (MPC), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Formosa Plastics Group. The proposed structure of the transaction will result in the Broadmeadow East (BME) project 
being transferred into the Burton-Lenton Joint Venture (BLJV) in a cash and royalties transaction. MPC already owns a 10% 
interest in the Lenton Joint Venture which owns the Burton complex infrastructure and Burton and New Lenton tenements.   

The incorporation of BME into the BLJV simplifies coal blending options to target specific markets and facilitates a reduction 
in operational complexity associated with coal processing from the Burton and BME assets, by streamlining the ownership 
structure.  

Consideration to be paid by MPC to BCC for the 10% interest in the BME project is: 

● $13.0 million cash on completion of the sale, plus:
● An 'acquisition' royalty of $2.10 per ROM tonne of MPC’s 10% share of production from the BME mine on a quarterly

basis from the date of economical disposal to 31 December 2026, subject to certain coal price indexes being triggered. 
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If underground mining is conducted in future at BME, MPC shall pay an underground royalty on a quarterly basis of $5.00 
per ROM tonne of MPC’s participating interest share of underground production, providing MPC’s share of revenue after all 
costs is at least $5.00 per ROM tonne in that quarter. 

The transaction also resulted in MPC paying $20.0 million as a pre-payment of its future contributions to the BLJV, monies 
which has been received subsequent to reporting date. 

Completion of the sale are subject to the usual conditions, including FIRB approval and indicative State Minister for 
Resources approval. 

Other events 

On 25 July 2023, the Company announced that Matthew Latimore has tendered a resignation notice, resigning as a Non-
Executive Director. As a result Stephen Downs also resigned (as Matthew Latimore’s appointed Alternate Director). 

On 27 July 2023, the Company announced that Gerhard Redelinghuys has tendered a resignation notice, resigning as an 
Executive Director. Gerhard Redelinghuys served a notice period to 23 August 2023. 

On 28 August 2023, the Company announced that the Company is working with its lenders to extend the maturity of its senior 
and subordinated debt facilities. The terms of any potential extension are currently under consideration and subject to further 
negotiation. 

On 28 August 2023, the Company announced that the Bluff mine is currently undergoing a strategic review. The Company 
is currently in discussion with customers, contractors and other key stakeholders about the future operational stats of mine 
in the current pricing environment. It is expected that a final decision on the near-term future of the Bluff operations will be 
forthcoming. 

Since 30 June 2023, the following securities were issued: 

● 25,489,047 Ordinary fully paid shares were issued on 24 July 2023 raising $4.3 million.
● 9,100,652 performance rights were issued to staff and management (under the Company’s Employee and Executive

Incentive Plan).

During August 2023, 240,832 performance rights lapsed. 

As at the date of this report the Company had 2,135,985,878 ordinary shares, 30,450,733 performance rights, 37,179,000 
options and 40,000,000 Convertible Notes on issue. 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which will significantly affect, or may significantly 
affect, the state of affairs or operations of in future financial periods. F
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Note 43. Restatement of prior period 
  
In June 2022 the Company achieved financial close on a convertible note deed (the “Deed”) for the issuance of A$40 million 
convertibles loan notes (“Convertible Notes”). The Convertible Notes are convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of the 
Company and have a maturity of five years, unless redeemed or converted earlier in accordance with the terms of issue (see 
note 23). In accordance with the Deed, maturity of the Convertible Notes would accelerate to 15 July 2022 in the event the 
acquisition of the Burton Mine and Lenton Project did not reach completion by 5 July 2022. The acquisition of the Burton 
Mine and Lenton projected was completed on 1 July 2022. The Convertible Notes have an initial conversion price of $0.325 
per note. Adjustments to the conversion price arise for dividends, capital reductions and other corporate actions (hereinafter 
referred to as ‘anti-dilution’ clauses). In the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group 
accounted for the conversion right as a separate equity instrument and classified the host debt contract as a non-current 
liability. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2023 the Group reviewed the accounting applied to the Convertible Notes recognised at 30 
June 2022. Following this review, it was determined that the holder’s conversion right did not meet the definition of an equity 
instrument due to the impact of the anti-dilution clauses and as a result, the conversion right should have been accounted 
for as a derivative liability at fair value through profit or loss. Furthermore, as the Group did not have the unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the Convertible Notes for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date, the Convertible Notes 
should have been classified as a current liability as at 30 June 2022. Transaction cost associated with the Convertible Notes 
were not material. The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items in the 
comparative period. 
 
The impact on previously reported amounts is summarised in the tables below, with the restatement only having a significant 
impact on amounts presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022 and Statement of 
Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2022.  
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Statement of financial position at the end of the earliest comparative period 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2022  30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ $ 

 
as previously 

reported Restatement Restated 
    
Assets    
Current assets    

Total current assets 96,114,156 - 96,114,156 

Non-current assets    

Total non-current assets 76,588,066 - 76,588,066 

    
Total assets 172,702,222 - 172,702,222 

    
Liabilities    
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 31,871,292 - 31,871,292 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 8,726,924 40,000,000 48,726,924 
Lease liability 53,596 - 53,596 
Provisions 135,818 - 135,818 
Total current liabilities 40,787,630 40,000,000 80,787,630 

    
Non-current liabilities    
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 32,607,061 (26,789,112) 5,817,949 
Lease liability 29,201 - 29,201 
Provisions 15,777,762 - 15,777,762 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 53,810 - 53,810 

Total non-current liabilities 48,467,834 (26,789,112) 21,678,722 

    
Total liabilities 89,255,464 13,210,888 102,466,352 

    
Net assets 83,446,758 (13,210,888) 70,235,870 

    
Equity    
Issued capital 134,113,511 - 134,113,511 
Reserves 4,149,174 - 4,149,174 
Convertible note reserve 13,210,888 (13,210,888) - 
Accumulated losses (68,026,815) - (68,026,815) 

    
Total equity 83,446,758 (13,210,888) 70,235,870 

  
The decrease in net assets at 30 June 2022 is due to the de-recognition of conversion right previously recognised as an 
equity instrument. The conversion right is now recognised as a financial liability. Notwithstanding the fact that the acquisition 
the Burton Mine and Lenton projected was completed on 1 July 2022, the Convertible Notes were classified as a current 
liability at 30 June 2022.    
  
The restatement did not have a significant impact on the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income or the Consolidated Statement of Cashflows of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022.  
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Note 44. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 
  
 Consolidated 
 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 
 $ $ 
   
Loss after income tax expense for the year (162,937,109) (18,302,414) 
   
Adjustments for non-cash items:   
Depreciation and amortisation 12,856,676  629,341  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 19,097,657  -   
Profit on disposal of lease (3,137) -   
Foreign exchange loss 815,525  -   
Share-based payments 1,800,752  2,164,809  
Finance income (fair value adjustment) (13,792,275) -   
Unwinding of the discount on provisions 2,081,322  -   
Finance expense 13,386,654  8,702  
Share of profit of joint ventures (992,495) (11,190) 
   
Change in operating assets and liabilities:   

Increase in trade and other receivables (21,425,499) (14,938,632) 
Increase in inventories (54,485,438) (5,999,733) 
Increase in prepayments (7,393,931) (6,793,050) 
Increase in trade and other payables 88,759,909  24,357,470  
Increase in provisions for onerous contracts 16,454,000  -   
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 634,874  (127,593) 

   
Net cash used in operating activities (105,142,515) (19,012,290) 
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In the directors' opinion: 

● the attached consolidated financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

● the attached consolidated financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 of the consolidated financial statements;

● the attached consolidated financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at
30 June 2023 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

● subject to the matters disclosed in note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, there are reasonable grounds to
believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

___________________________ 
Nicholas Jorss 
Executive Chairman and Director 

4 September 2023 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bowen Coking Coal 
Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Bowen Coking Coal Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 
ended 30 June 2023, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2023 
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial report, which describes the principal conditions which 
raise doubts about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. These events or conditions 
along with the other matters set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our conclusion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty 
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key 
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audit matters to be communicated in our report. For each matter below, our description of how our 
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial report. 

Acquisition of interest in the Lenton Joint Venture 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

On 1 July 2022, the Group completed the 
acquisition of the shares in New Lenton Coal Pty 
Ltd whose only significant asset was a 90% 
interest in the unincorporated Lenton Joint 
Venture. 

The Group determined the transaction was an 
asset acquisition under Australian Accounting 
Standards, as the acquired interest in the 
unincorporated Lenton Joint Venture did not 
meet the definition of a business under AASB 3 
Business Combinations.  

The details of the Asset Acquisition accounting 
are disclosed in Note 22 of the financial 
statements. 

In undertaking the asset acquisition accounting, 
the Group is required to measure the purchase 
consideration and allocate purchase 
consideration based on the relative fair values of 
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the 
date of the acquisition.   

The fair value measurement of identifiable 
assets and liabilities requires significant 
judgement and complex estimation, including:  

• The identification and measurement of all 
assets and liabilities.  

• The fair valuation of non-current assets, 
including property, plant and equipment, 
mineral rights (including coal reserves and 
resources) and exploration and evaluation 
assets which are dependent upon, amongst 
other factors, the existence and extent of 
underlying coal reserves and resources and 
key forecast assumptions such as discount 
rates, commodity prices and operating and 
capital costs. 

Our audit procedures included the following:  

• Assessed the Group’s determination of the 
acquisition date of the asset acquisition. 

• Evaluated the Group’s determination of the 
purchase consideration with reference to 
Australian Accounting Standards including 
the treatment of contingent consideration 
payable and transaction costs.  

• Evaluated the qualifications, competence 
and objectivity of the Group’s experts used 
to estimate  coal reserves and resources 
quantities and estimate the fair values  of 
the acquired property, plant and 
equipment, mining rights, exploration and 
evaluation assets, and restoration liabilities 
used to allocation purchase consideration. 

• In conjunction with EY’s valuation 
specialists, we: 

► Considered whether the valuation 
methodology used by the Group’s 
external expert to measure fair value 
was in accordance with the 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

► Evaluated the reasonableness of the 
key input assumptions including 
discount rates and forecast commodity 
prices with reference to a variety of 
third-party forecasts, peer information 
and market data. 

► Performed valuation cross checks on 
the acquired property, plant and 
equipment, mining rights and 
exploration and evaluation assets with 
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Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

• The valuation of restoration and 
rehabilitation liabilities, which in turn are 
dependent upon the extent of 
environmental disturbances at the 
acquisition date, the timing of proposed 
rehabilitation and decommissioning 
activities and applicable regulatory and 
compliance requirements. 

As a result, we considered the Group’s asset 
acquisition accounting and the related 
disclosures in the financial statements to be a 
key audit matter. 

 

reference to reserve and resource 
transaction and trading multiples. 

► Assessed decommissioning and 
restoration liability amounts 
recognised with reference to internal 
and third-party restoration cost 
estimates. We considered the 
composition of the cost estimates and 
methodologies used as well as the 
appropriateness of contingency rates 
and the other market inputs applied, 
such as inflation and discount rates. 

• Tested the working capital balances, 
including cash, inventory, trade receivable 
and payables at the acquisition date.  

• Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in 
Note 22 to the financial statements.    

Impairment Assessment of Non-Current Assets 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

At 30 June 2023, the Group had non- 
current assets of $160,309,222 comprising  
mining assets and mine development assets, 
property, plant and equipment, right of use 
assets and office equipment as disclosed in Note 
18 to the financial statements. 
  
At the end of each reporting period, the Group  
exercises judgment in determining whether  
there is any indication of impairment of these  
assets. If any such indicators exist, the Group  
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating units (CGUs).  
 
The Group assessed whether any indicators of 
impairment were present at 30 June 2023 and 
concluded that indicators of impairment were 
present in respect of the Bluff Mine CGU. 
 
It was determined that the recoverable amount 
of the Bluff mine CGU was less than the carrying 
value and therefore an impairment loss was 
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2023 as 
disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements. 
In addition to this adjustment, an onerous 
contract provision of $16,454,000 was 

Our audit procedures included the following:  

• Evaluated the Group’s assessment as to 
whether any indicators of impairment 
existed. 

• Read operational reports, board reports, 
minutes and market announcements. 

• Assessed changes to reserves and 
resources and other macro-economic 
factors including the coal price and discount 
rates.  

• Evaluated the impact of changes in royalty 
regimes and its impact on recoverable 
amount.  

• Compared the Group’s market capitalisation 
relative to its net assets.  

Our audit procedures related to the impairment 
assessment made by the Group following the 
identification of impairment indicators included 
the following:   

• Assessed the Group's impairment 
methodology was in accordance with the 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards.  
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Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

recognised to reflect unavoidable contractual 
obligations at 30 June 2023.  
 
We considered this to be a key audit matter 
because of the significant:
• Judgment involved in determining whether

there are indicators of impairment.

• Judgment and estimation involved in the
measuring  the recoverable amount of the 
Bluff mine CGU including assumptions 
relating to future coal prices, operating and 
capital costs, the discount rate used to 
reflect the risks associated with the
forecast cash flows having regard to the 
current status of the CGU.

• Judgment and estimation associated with
the recognition of the measurement of 
onerous contract liabilities.

 

• Evaluated the assumptions used by the 
Group to determine forecast cash flows. 
This included assessing, with involvement 
from our valuation specialists, where 
appropriate, the coal prices with reference 
to market prices, broker consensus, 
historical performance, accuracy of 
historical forecasting and discount rates. 

• Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
Group's discounted cash flow impairment 
model and agreed relevant data, including 
assumptions on timing and future capital 
and operating expenditure, to the Group's 
feasibility analysis of the CGU and the latest 
Board approved life of mine plan (as 
appropriate).  

• Assessed the work of the Group's internal 
and external experts with respect to the 
capital and operating assumptions used in 
the cash flow forecasts (where relevant).  

• We also considered the competence, 
qualifications and objectivity of the Groups 
experts and assessed whether key capital 
and operating expenditure assumptions 
were consistent with information in Board 
reports and releases to the market.  

• Assessed the work of the Group's experts 
with respect to the reserve and resource 
assumptions used in the cash flow 
forecasts. This included understanding the 
estimation process.  

• Assessed the impact of a range of 
sensitivities to the economic assumptions 
underpinning the Group's impairment 
assessment.  

• Evaluated the Group’s assessment of the 
onerous contract liability at balance date 
given the unavoidable costs of operating 
the Bluff mine CGU exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received.   

• Evaluated the adequacy of the Group's 
disclosures in the Notes to the financial 
statements. 
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Accounting for Convertible Notes  

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

In June 2022, the Group achieved financial 
close on a convertible note deed for the 
issuance of $40 million convertible loan notes. 
At 30 June 2022, the Group determined the 
convertible notes were equity.  

As disclosed in Note 43 “Restatement of prior 
period” the Group revisited the accounting 
applied to the convertible notes and determined 
the conversion features did not satisfy the 
requirements for recognition as equity in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and were better characterised as a 
financial liability.  

The accounting for convertible notes is a key 
audit matter due to:  
• The judgement involved in determining the 

equity or debt classification of the 
component parts of the convertible notes; 

• The size of the liability;  

• The judgement involved in valuation and 
estimation of the embedded derivative 
liability; and  

• The associated profit and loss volatility that 
can result from movements in the fair value 
of the derivative liability.  

Our audit procedures included the following: 

• In conjunction with our technical specialists, 
reviewed the convertible loan deed and 
considered the appropriateness of 
recognition and measurement of the 
convertible notes in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

• Reviewed the valuation performed by 
managements expert and involved our 
valuation specialists in assessing the 
competence of managements expert and 
considering the appropriateness of valuation 
methodology used including key 
assumptions.  

• Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
included in the Notes to the financial 
statements, including disclosure of 
significant judgements and estimates 
adopted by management and the disclosure 
associated with the restatement of the prior 
period. 

 

 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s 2023 annual report other than the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the directors’ report and shareholders information  that is to be 
included in the annual report, prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the 
remaining sections of the annual report after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report 
and our related assurance opinion.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on the Audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 21 to 28 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2023. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Bowen Coking Coal Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2023, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
Tom du Preez 
Partner 
Brisbane 
4 September 2023 
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BOWEN COKING COAL LIMITED 
INTEREST IN TENEMENTS 
30 JUNE 2023 
 

Bowen Coking Coal Ltd held the following interests in tenements as at the date of this report: 

Country Location Project Tenement Status Current 
Interest (%) 

Australia Queensland Cooroorah MDL 453 Under renewal 100% 

Australia Queensland Broadmeadow East ML 70257 Under renewal 100% 

Australia Queensland Mt Hillalong EPC 1824 Granted 85%* 

Australia Queensland Hillalong East EPC 2141 Under renewal 85%* 

Australia Queensland Carborough EPC 1860 Granted 100% 

Australia Queensland Lilyvale EPC 1687 Granted 15% 

Australia Queensland Lilyvale EPC 2157 Granted 15% 

Australia Queensland Mackenzie EPC 2081 Granted 5% 

Australia Queensland Comet Ridge EPC 1230 Under renewal 100% 

Australia Queensland Isaac River MDL 444 Granted 100% 

Australia Queensland Isaac River EPC 830 Granted 100% 

Australia Queensland Isaac River ML 700062 Application 100% 

Australia Queensland Isaac River ML 700063 Application 100% 

Australia Queensland Bluff EPC 1175 Granted 100% 

Australia Queensland Bluff EPC 1999 Granted 100% 

Australia Queensland Bluff ML 80194 Granted 100% 

Australia Queensland Lenton** EPC 766 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland Lenton North** EPC 865 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland Lenton West** EPC 1675 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland New Lenton** ML 70337 Under renewal 90% 

Australia Queensland New Lenton** ML 700053 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland New Lenton** ML 700054 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland Burton** EPC 857 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland Burton** MDL 315 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland Burton** MDL 349 Granted 90% 

Australia Queensland Burton** ML 70109 Under renewal 90% 

Australia Queensland Burton** ML 70260 Under renewal 90% 

* Sumitomo Corporation elected to proceed with the Hillalong Joint Venture (“Hillalong JV”) following the completion of the

$2.5 million on Phase 1 another $2.5 million on Phase 2a exploration program at Hillalong, resulting in Sumitomo solidifying

a 15% interest in the Project. Completion of the first 10% transfer was completed on 13 April 2021 and a further 5% transfer

was completed on 10 February 2022. Sumitomo Corporation is currently earning-in for a further 5% by spending $2.5 million

under Phase 2b of the Farm-In Agreement. Post the completion of Phase 2b, Sumitomo has the option to obtain an additional

5% (for a total interest of 20%) in the project by spending a further $2.5 million on Phase 2b exploration.

** Bowen Coking Coal Ltd acquired the Burton and Lenton tenements on 1 July 2022 through the acquisition of New Lenton 

Coal Pty Ltd. 
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